
Date Published:26 June 2021     

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 6 July 2021 at 10.00 am

This meeting will be a remote access meeting via Webex

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

3  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 38)

To note the minutes of the meeting held on: - 

a) 26 January 2021 (Joint Meeting with Health Scrutiny Committee)

b) 9 March 2021
 

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

DIRECTOR REPORTS

4  PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT (Pages 39 - 54)

An update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health,  Gloucestershire County Council), on matters relating to public 
health, including the response to the COVID-19 Emergency.

A Covid-19 intelligence summary update will be circulated prior to the 
meeting to provide members with the latest information.

Professor Sarah 
Scott

5  ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT (Pages 55 - 64)

An update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health,  Gloucestershire County Council), on matters relating to adult 

Professor Sarah 
Scott



    

social care, including the response to the COVID-19 Emergency.

6  CHIEF FIRE OFFICER UPDATE 

An update on matters relating to the delivery of services included within 
the portfolio of services covered by the Chief Fire Officer of 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service in context to the remit of the 
committee, comprising; Trading Standards, Civil Protection and Coroners 
Services.

Mark Preece

7  QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE REPORT (2020/21) (Pages 65 - 74)

To consider performance data for Quarter 4 of 2020/21 in relation to the 
delivery of services within the remit and context of this committee. 

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

Cabinet 
Members

8  WORK PLAN 

The committee to consider topics for scrutiny and suggest items for 
consideration at future meetings.  

2021
7 September
9 November

2022
25 Jan 
15 Mar
10 May
5 July
6 September
15 November

Items suggested at the recent member induction session included: 

1) Market management (to include information on staffing issues, 
pay, training, recruitment and retention) 

2) Domiciliary Care 

3) Contain Outbreak Management Funding 

4) Covid-19 Funding/Community Grant Schemes 

Other items (items to add to the Annual Work Programme 2021/22)

5) Gloucestershire Safeguarding Board Annual Report 2020/21 

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

Membership –  Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair), Cllr Alastair Chambers, Cllr Cate Cody, 
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, Cllr Lisa Spivey, Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Suzanne Williams, 
Cllr Terry Hale and Cllr Steve Robinson 



    

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring 
Officer/Head of Strategic Planning, Performance & Change.  01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 
324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

 

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting of the Joint Meeting of the Adult Social Care and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 26 
January 2021.

The meeting was held as a virtual held meeting via Webex and can be viewed on the 
Gloucestershire County Council website here

ASCC
Members

Cllr Iain Dobie (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair)
Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE

Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Brian Robinson
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Brian Tipper

HOSC 
Members

Cllr Brian Robinson (Chair)
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson (Vice-
Chair)
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE

Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Martin Horwood
Cllr Dilys Neill
Cllr Collette Finnegan
Cllr Steve Lydon
Cllr Jill Smith

1. INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES 

Chairman of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee, (ASCC), 
Cllr Stephen Hirst, and Chairman of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
(HOSC), Cllr Brian Robinson, welcomed everyone to the meeting. Making reference 
to the mutual interest of the two committees in considering the response to the 
Covid-19 emergency, Cllr Hirst outlined the purpose of holding a joint meeting.

Sarah Scott attended the meeting as Executive Director of Adult Social Care and 
Public Health at Gloucestershire County Council, (having taken over the role of 
Executive Director for Adult Social Care and Communities from Margaret Willcox, 
who had recently retired from the County Council). It was noted that Sarah Scott, (in 
her role as Director of Public Health), had also attended the HOSC meeting on 17 
November 2020, giving scrutiny members an opportunity to ask questions on public 
health related issues at that meeting. 

Apologies were received from Cllr Phil Awford, (a member of the Adult Social Care 
and Communities Scrutiny Committee).  Cllr Brian Tipper represented Cllr Awford at 
the meeting. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/online-meetings-archive/january-2021-online-meetings/joint-meeting-of-the-adult-social-care-and-communities-scrutiny-committee-and-gloucestershire-health-overview-and-scrutiny-committee-tuesday-26-january-2021-1000-am/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

3. MINUTES 

The minutes of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
meeting held on 10 November 2020 were confirmed and agreed as a correct record 
of that meeting.

4. RESPONSE TO COVID-19 (ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND PUBLIC HEALTH) 

Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, 
(Gloucestershire County Council), gave a detailed update on the Gloucestershire 
response to the Covid-19 Emergency. 

A Covid-19 intelligence summary update, (detailing performance indicators for the 
period 14 to 21 January 2021), had been circulated on the morning of the meeting, 
providing members with the latest information. The intelligence document is 
attached to the minutes of the meeting. 

Included in the summary information, were performance updates relating to; the 
number of Covid-19 confirmed cases for the county, the number of hospitalisations, 
including the number of patients in critical care; the number of death (Covid-19) 
registrations made during the past 7 days; the number of excess deaths in the 
county; the number of Covid-19 confirmed cases in care homes, (staff and 
resident), an update on the South-West R value range; and an overview of 
Gloucestershire and National Performance Indicators, including comparisons 
between Gloucestershire and its geographical neighbours. 

The Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, (with input from 
NHS staff), introduced the update report and clarified the following information: - 

a) Referencing the high number of Covid-19 cases in the Gloucester City area, 
a local member asked what was being done to manage the situation? It was 
confirmed that Gloucester City had experienced a high number of cases, but 
that this had started to reduce. Working with Gloucester City colleagues, 
local leaders and community representatives, the public health team hoped 
to gain a better understanding of some of the behaviours that may have 
created this surge, particularly among Black and Asian Minority Ethnic 
Groups (BAME). To address some of the challenges brought about by 
communication issues with people from BAME communities, it was agreed 
strong messages of support and reassurances would be vital in developing 
confidence and building trust.

b) A member referred to reports via social media suggesting evidence of low 
transmission levels in outdoor locations. Questioning how this might impact 
on the easing of restrictions for the county, members were informed that, 
whilst ventilation helped to reduce the transmission of the virus, it was still 
important to adhere to hand washing/face mask and social distancing 
guidelines. Acknowledging concerns about the impact of the pandemic on 
the local economy, the Executive Director reinforced the need to balance 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

decisions being taken to protect lives with the easing of restrictions to re-
energise tourism. 

c) Another member stressed the need for more in-depth data to enable better 
understanding of the variances in infection rates, particularly in relation to 
specific age groups. The Executive Director reported that the public health 
team continued to work under very difficult circumstances to analyse the 
data available to them. It was not an easy task, particularly given the wide 
range of underlying factors and large numbers of asymptomatic people in the 
county. The work was ongoing and it was hoped additional funding would 
enable the council to invest more resources into this work. 

d) Enquiring about the levels of infection in school children, it was explained 
that that a high proportion of children were asymptomatic, making it difficult 
to determine the spread of the virus in schools, and in what numbers. The 
decision to close schools had been a national decision, for which the county 
continued to adhere to government guidelines. Teachers had responded 
incredibly well to the challenging circumstances and in delivering home 
schooling, with the support of parents.

e) Updating members on the roll out of the Gloucestershire Covid-19 
vaccination programme, the Executive Director confirmed that the initial roll 
out had been positive. Phase 1 of the roll out aimed to vaccinate over 
400,000 people by the end of April 2020. This included vaccines 
administered via a hospital hub for health and social care staff and at 10 
Primary Care Networks located across the county for eligible members of the 
public.  Working closely with NHS colleagues, the public health team was 
working hard to obtain data and inform the public about uptake and 
coverage.  

f) The Joint Committee for Vaccination and Immunisations (JCVI) had 
identified priority groups for vaccination. Whilst crucial in protecting the most 
vulnerable people in society and easing pressures on the health and social 
care system, the vaccine would not necessarily stop people from getting the 
virus completely. It would, however, help to reduce serious complications or 
death in those at most risk.

g) Priority Group 2 of the key priority groups included all frontline health and 
social care workers. The County Council and Clinical Commissioning Group, 
working with NHS partners, aimed to ensure everyone eligible for vaccination 
were vaccinated as quickly as possible. 

h) The list of health and social care staff eligible for vaccination included: staff 
who had frequent face-to-face contact with patients (children or adult) and 
directly involved in patient care in either secondary or primary care, mental 
health, urgent and emergency care and community settings; those working in 
independent, voluntary and non-standard healthcare settings such as 
hospices, and community-based mental health or addiction services; 
laboratory, pathology and mortuary staff; those working for a sub-contracted 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

provider of facilities services; temporary, locum or ‘bank’ staff, including 
those working in the Covid-19 vaccination programme, students, trainees 
and volunteers working with patients; and frontline social care workers 
working directly with vulnerable people (children or adults) who needed care 
and support, irrespective of where they worked  

i) To ensure maximum impact, priority would be given to frontline workers in 
regular close contact with individuals with either confirmed or suspected 
Covid-19 and staff working with people at highest risk of being infected or in 
becoming seriously ill.  Each service was being asked to further prioritise 
staff based on personal vulnerabilities such as age and ethnicity or existing 
health conditions.

j) Vaccinations would be administered in home environments for members of 
the public with mobility or serious health issues. 

k) Responding to concerns about available hospital bed spaces caused by 
pressures from increased rates of Covid-19, members were reassured that 
the system was coping well, supported by the NHS Home First Programme 
for people discharged from hospital and able to be treated at home. 

Commending the combined efforts of the public health team, NHS, support 
agencies, community organisations and volunteers, the committee agreed that the 
response to the virus was not to be underestimated and that there was still a lot of 
work to be done. 

The report was noted.

5. RESPONSE TO COVID-19: NHS GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUP (GCCG) 

Mary Hutton, (representing GCCG and One Gloucestershire Integrated Care 
System), presented a summary of current issues relating to the Covid-19 virus. 

Expanding on the update presented earlier in the meeting regarding the Covid-19 
vaccination programme, it was confirmed that vaccinations were being administered 
via 10 Primary Care Network hubs located across the county, (including a fire 
station in Cheltenham), by Gloucestershire Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (GHT) 
and Gloucestershire Health and Care (GHC).

Based on data reported from the start of the roll out in December to 22 January 
2021, 71,000 vaccinations had been administered to people from the first 4 national 
priority groups, including; care home residents and staff; people aged 70 and over; 
frontline health and social care staff; and people classified as clinically extremely 
vulnerable. 85% of residents aged 80 plus and all care homes, (excluding 3 care 
homes with a confirmed outbreak of Covid), had been vaccinated. Gloucestershire 
CCG was following the national directive of pausing the roll out of the second 
vaccination to enable more people receive their first vaccine.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

At the time of the report, (22 January 2021), Gloucestershire had been at the top of 
the national league table as the top performing Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership/Integrated Care System in England for administering vaccinations. The 
national target for the top 4 priority groups to be vaccinated was mid-February 
2021. 

Cllr Stephen Lydon commended the success of the roll out of the vaccine in 
Gloucestershire and asked how people not registered with a local GP would be 
vaccinated? Dr Andy Seymour, Clinical Chair for Gloucestershire CCG was able to 
confirm that a great deal of work, including work with the public health team, was 
involved in ensuring equitable distribution of the vaccine. NHS England was aware 
of the issue and hoped to resolve the problem in forthcoming weeks.

Prior to the meeting, Cllr Lydon submitted a couple of written questions, for which 
written responses had been provided after the meeting. In the first of two questions, 
Cllr Lydon referred to reports of unused quantities of the pfizer vaccine due to the 
limited shelf life of the vaccine. Cllr Lydon asked to what extent was this an issue in 
Gloucestershire and what was being done to address the problem. In a written 
response, members were assured that it was the CCG’s absolute priority not to 
waste vaccines and that processes were in place to minimise the risk. All 
vaccination sites held ‘reserve’ lists of people who could be called at short notice if 
it appeared, towards the end of the day, there might be a surplus of the pfizer 
vaccine

In a second question, Cllr Lydon reiterated concerns about people not registered 
with a Gloucestershire GP being eligible for vaccination. These included a large 
proportion of people working for the NHS and care staff from overseas. Cllr Lydon 
asked what proportion of Gloucestershire residents were not registered with a GP 
and what was being done to address the issue, particularly, in relation to front line 
staff receiving vaccines? In a written response, the CCG informed Cllr Lydon that, 
whilst it was more efficient if a person was registered with a GP, it was not 
essential. As an interim measure, vaccination sites could use paper forms to record 
a person’s details. Both locally, and nationally, the NHS was encouraging people to 
register with a GP.
Updating members on the supply of Personal Protective Equipment,(PPE), it was 
confirmed that the CCG continued to provide PPE to all NHS health and social care 
providers via a storage and delivery arrangement with the Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service. 
In Spring 2020, Infection, Prevention and Control (IPC) training had been delivered 
to all NHS care homes, for which ongoing support continued to be provided, 
particularly during the event of an outbreak of COVID. Refresher training 
programmes were about to be offered. 

As of 22 January 2021, Covid patients occupied 26% of all acute hospital beds in 
Gloucestershire. During the current wave of the virus, the length of stay in hospital 
was notably longer than the first wave. Working closely with community health 
services, care homes and social care, the CCG was working hard to keep the flow 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

of patients in Gloucestershire hospitals moving. The principle aim was to provide 
NHS Home First support where possible. 

Noting the work involved in providing treatment for Long Covid patients, a member 
asked whether anti-body testing would be offered to those people who may have 
had the virus but had not been tested. The committee was informed that antibody 
testing was not something that was being offered but was a matter that could be 
discussed with a person’s GP.

The Covid virtual ward continued to provide support services to both early and safe 
hospital discharge patients, and wherever possible, avoid admission for Covid 
patients experiencing mild symptoms. 

During the first wave of the virus, a significant number of patient operations and 
diagnostic tests had been cancelled. In Gloucestershire, however, patients 
diagnosed with cancer had continued to receive treatment throughout the 
pandemic, and currently continuing to do so. A detailed plan had been produced to 
treat those patients whose operations had been cancelled in 2020. 

Reflecting on the pressures placed on staff during the pandemic, members were 
advised that staff wellbeing was at the forefront of the everyone’s focus. Every effort 
was made to ensuring staff received the support available to them, in respect of 
both physical and mental wellbeing.

The two committees commended the good work detailed in the reports presented at 
the meeting. One member suggested producing a record of the various stages of 
activity involved in the response to the pandemic and any lessons learnt. It was 
generally agreed that it would be important to log and reflect on the events and 
activities involved in the response and recovery process going forward. The CCG 
confirmed that a huge amount of work was being done to capture this information 
and that a CQC publication would be published in due course, which would be 
shared with the committee. 

The update was noted.

6. RESPONSE TO COVID-19: GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND CARE NHS 
FOUNDATION TRUST (GHCFT) 

Representatives from Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation 
Trust (GHCFT) provided a detailed briefing note on the response to the 
pandemic. The update was circulated with the agenda and included 
information on the response to Covid-19, including the care provided to Covid 
patients in community hospitals across the county. 

Trust colleagues were involved in lateral flow testing twice weekly and 
running the Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) Testing Centre at Edward 
Jenner for staff and families of GHC, GHT and social care and for people 
requiring a pre-procedure test.

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

The provision of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) to Trust staff remained a key 
element of the Trust response, as was providing Covid-secure buildings for both 
staff and patients. Many Trust colleagues continued to work remotely, where 
possible, to help reduce the risk of spread among teams and services. 

The Trust was also involved in leading the development of clinics for people who 
continued to suffer with Covid symptoms 3 months after diagnosis. The Trust was 
currently testing a multi-disciplinary approach with colleagues from Gloucester 
Hospitals and Primary Care with the aim of developing this as a key programme of 
support in line with national guidance.

The Trust was heavily involved in the roll out of the Covid Vaccination Programme, 
working alongside the Primary Care Networks and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust. In line with the national guidance on the priority groups for 
vaccination, some Trust colleagues had started to receive the vaccine and had 
commenced a programme to support the immunisation of its own inpatients, 
particularly those who are vulnerable due to their complex health needs. A 
Housebound vaccination programme was being offered.

The Trust continued to focus on the Home First approach and the need to increase 
the number of discharges from both acute and community hospitals who returned 
directly to home rather than to a nursing or residential home

Vaccinating Trust colleagues against the flu had been an important consideration 
this year due to the increased risk of contracting flu and Covid. More than 90% of 
frontline colleagues had received the flu vaccine. The  Childhood Immunisation 
Team had worked throughout the winter months in delivering the flu vaccine to all 
primary school children (Reception to Year 6) and all Year 7 children in secondary 
school. The majority of immunisations were delivered within schools. At the time of 
the report, more than 40,016 school children had been vaccinated. 

The briefing note was noted.

7. PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT 

Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, introduced 
the Public Health Report. 

A member noted the work involved in trialling treatments to prevent individuals from 
contracting HIV and asked if this work could be coordinated alongside work by 
Gloucestershire Health Care’s sexual health and advisory service. The request was 
noted and the Executive Director agreed to make enquires with the current 
provider. Action by – Sarah Scott 

Another member requested an update on sexual health services at the next 
meeting and this was agreed. An update to be included in the next Public Health 
report to the committee. 

The report was noted.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

8. ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT 

Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health, introduced 
the Adult Social Care Report. 

A member enquired about the impact of increased pressures at work from Covid-19 
and the challenges of working in a crisis on the public health team. The Executive 
Director confirmed that the team was working in extremely difficult conditions. Staff 
were exceptionally busy and continuing to maintain appropriate standards in spite 
of the challenges. There were no issues to report at this time.

The report was noted 

9. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

Wayne Bowcock, Chief Fire Officer (CFO) for Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service (GFRS), gave a detailed update on current issues/key areas of work within 
the CFO portfolio of services, including: Fire and Rescue Service, Trading 
Standards, Civil Protection and Coroners Services.

Updating members on the response to the Covid-19 emergency, the Chief Fire 
Officer stated that, throughout the national emergency, GFRS had collaborated with 
GCC colleagues and with regional and national emergency services to support the 
local community. The actions of GFRS in response to the pandemic had been 
recognised in a letter from the Fire Minister, Lord Greenhalgh, received in 
November 2020, following an application to the Fire Covid-19 Contingency Fund. 

It was reported that GFRS had been the subject in the ‘first round’ HMICFRS Covid-
19 Inspection in November 2020.  During the inspection the following factors had 
been considered (a) What was working well and what had been learned; (b) How 
the fire sector had responded to the Covid -19 emergency; (c) How fire services 
were dealing with the problems they faced; (d) What changes were likely as a result 
of the pandemic. Although the inspection report was not yet publicly available, it 
was believed GFRS had performed well and that the report was favourable. 

A summary of activities performed by GFRS in response to the pandemic is 
summarised below:

Community Covid-19 Testing – the recent government announcement that people 
unable to work from home could access LFD (Lateral Flow Device) testing had 
created some issues. GCC and GFRS were looking at how this might be 
implemented. The Operational Resilience Cell, together with colleagues from GCC, 
Public Health and DHSC were looking to establish a Local Testing Site (LTS) at 
various locations around the County. This would be a walk-in model to allow people 
to access a full PCR (Polymerase Chain Reaction) test without the need for an 
appointment. The first LTS will be located in Gloucester City. A Mass Testing Site at 
the Royal Agricultural University, Cirencester went live on 3 December 2020, with 
training and induction taking place in conjunction with colleagues from GCC. GFRS 
continued to supply staff to deliver this project. In response to rising infection rates, 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

a testing site in Gloucester City had been set up. It was expected that GFRS staff 
will be involved in the work at this site. 

In addition, fire crews were carrying out test & trace welfare checks on residents 
who had not responded to contact by national or local test & trace services. GFRS 
was working with Public Health to review the impact of this activity. At least 1000 of 
these visits had been carried out by GFRS staff. 

Covid-19 Vaccinations: Clinical staff inductions had taken place at the Primary Care 
Networks Vaccination Site at Cheltenham East Fire Station on 2 December 2020. 
The first Covid Vaccination Clinic had been delivered on 16 December 2020. The 
site had delivered 330 vaccines each day prior to the Christmas holiday. Capacity 
was expected to rise to 1000 plus per day. The Operational Resilience Cell was 
currently making preparations for further vaccination centres, as required. 

The NHS Acute Team had taken up the offer of using SkillZONE to deliver Covid 
vaccinations from Monday 18 January 2021.

The additional vaccination site, run by Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust, was currently being set up and will initially cater for approximately 
20,000 frontline health and social care workers. Staff from SkillZONE will support 
the day-to-day operations at this site.

Flu Vaccinations: Flu vaccination clinics had been taking place at some of GFRS 
call stations including: Cheltenham East, Gloucester North, Coleford, Cinderford, 
Stroud, and Wotton. Additional weekend drive-through clinics had been set up at 
Gloucester North, Stroud, Cirencester, Chipping Camden and Cheltenham East. 
These were run by the Gloucestershire Pharmacy Network to target the most 
vulnerable groups in the community, such as care home staff and domiciliary 
workers. GFRS was assisting in the facilitation of these clinics. 

Mortality Cell: The Mortality Cell and Temporary Chapel of Rest had reopened on 
Wednesday 16 December 2020. GFRS staff were in place to assist with the work at 
the Chapel. It was anticipated that the site would run until 23 March 2021.Support 
and welfare was being offered to staff.

PPE Training: GFRS was storing and distributing emergency PPE supplies to social 
care, school and other key users. The GFRS supply chain, via the NFCC 
procurement hub, had been used to procure extra supplies. Since the start of the 
pandemic, GFRS had made 3861 individual deliveries of PPE to various settings 
across the County, equating to 8.5 million pieces of PPE. Recent increases in 
infection rates, particularly in care homes, had resulted in an increased demand for 
training in these care settings. Additional resources had been allocated to this task 
and over 200 care home staff had requested and received PPE training as part of 
the second wave response. 

SWAST: Formal confirmation had been provided to SWAFT of GFRS continued 
support in respect of an extension of the provision of First Responder Service 
mutual aid until week commencing Monday 7 April 2021. During the period 1 to 11 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

November 2021, GFRS had provided 174 shifts and attended 637 incidents as part 
of an ambulance crew, equating to some 1485 mobilisations since the 
commencement of the mutual aid agreement. SWAST had declared a critical 
incident due to the unprecedented demand on their service. In response, GFRS 
was continuing to increase the number of shifts it was able to cover. The response 
to the recent advert for additional volunteers had been good. It was hoped to have 
additional staff trained shortly. Additional welfare arrangements were in place for 
GFRS employees to support any mental wellbeing needs they may be experiencing 
due to the potential exposure to traumatic incidents.

Other activities included: Support to GCC and Highways, including putting up 
signage as part of the wider Covid Communication Strategy; Delivering food to 
vulnerable people; Local Track & Trace; Outreach swabbing; Delivery of laptop 
computers to young people.

The committee commended the good work being provided by GFRS. One member 
enquired about vaccinations for firefighters, (not included in the first 9 priority 
groups), and was assured all staff supporting SWAST had been offered the 
vaccine. In addition, all staff had been provided with PPE. A request was made for 
the CFO to come back to the committee on the number of GFRS staff taking up the 
vaccine. Another member asked for an update on fire-fighter pensions and sick pay. 
It was agreed updates on these issues would be included in the CFO report to the 
committee at the next meeting. Action by – Wayne Bowcock

A member enquired if there had been any developments in the proposed bid to 
takeover the fire service by the Office of the Police Crime Commissioner (OPCC) 
and if there had been an increase in the number of road traffic accidents during 
lockdown. Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member: Public Protection, Parking and 
Libraries confirmed that the position had not changed regarding the bid by the 
OPCC but would advise of any updates, when received. The Cabinet Member 
confirmed that a robust challenge would be made to any developments made by 
the OPCC.

The Chief Fire Officer confirmed that there had been a 40% reduction in fires during 
the first lockdown and a 30% reduction in road traffic accidents. There had been, 
however, a notable increase in speeding incidents.  

The Chief Fire Officer update was noted.

10. ROAD SAFETY CABINET PANEL 

Members noted the final report of the Road Safety Cabinet Panel, (introduced by 
Cabinet Member: Public Protection, Parking and Libraries, Cllr Dave Norman). The 
report will be presented to Cabinet at its meeting on 24 March 2021. The report can 
be viewed at the link here

Comments made at the meeting, (in response to the Panel’s recommendations), 
included i) concerns about the complexities of the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) 
process; ii) lack of enforcement in relation to speeding issues; iii) safety concerns 

Page 10

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s68330/Item%2010%20-%20Road%20Safety%20Cabinet%20Panel%20Report%20-%20with%20Appendices.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

about the use of electronic scooters in public places; and iv) the need for increased 
investment in the council’s road safety budget. 

The committee endorsed the report, subject to the comments made at the meeting.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.50pm 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



ADULT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE & HOSC
25-01-2021
COVD-19 Early Warning Indicators
View in Power BI

Downloaded at:

25/01/2021 13:47:36 GMT Standard 

Time

Last data refresh:

25/01/2021 13:33:36 GMT Standard 

Time

P
age 1

M
inute Item

 4

P
age 13

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831?pbi_source=PowerPoint


NHS 111

▪ Seven day average 111 triage number for Gloucestershire is 78.2 per 100,000 triages  (a total of 498 for the previous 7 days) ; this is less than last week - 684 triages, 107.4 per 100k.

See slide 5 for more detail 

Infections

▪ 1,377 confirmed cases in the county, this is a decrease compared to 1,659 cases in the previous 7 days (17.8% decrease). Decrease in all areas except Cotswold (6.1% increase). See 
slide 4 for more detail

▪ Cases are spread across the age ranges (the largest numbers of cases are in those ages 20-59) and geography; the largest number of cases are in Gloucester; and via pillar 2 testing. 
See slide 4 & 6 for more detail

▪ Tredworth has the highest rates of cases – 539 per 100,000 (followed by Quedgeley South - 469.0 per 100,000 (then Cirencester South- 448.2 per 100,000). See slide 7 and 8 for more 
detail

Hospitalisations

▪ There are currently 17 patients in critical care (25/01/2021) and  approx.180 admitted patients with C-19 in GHFT (however these figures change frequently)

Mortality
▪ The number of death registrations mentioning COVID19 has reduced (57 this week VS 68 in previous 7 days). See slides 9  for more detail

▪ The Temporary Chapel of Rest (TCR) currently storing 70 deceased (up from 42 last week) having taken 280 since 25/11/21. Many Undertakers are now getting near capacity on storage. 
This is still manageable with the TCR providing resilience for undertakers as business as usual. 

Care homes

▪ Change since last reporting period with a decrease in care home situations notified to the GCC Health Protection Team. There has been a decrease in the number of staff and resident 
cases.

Recovery metrics:

▪ These are not updated weekly. A summary of last reported metrics are included on slide 12.

R-value
▪ The South West R value range is between 0.9 and 1.2, which is a decrease on the previous week estimate (1.2 and 1.5); the tru e value is somewhere towards the middle of this range. 

Comparison to geographical neighbours

▪ Gloucestershire has the lowest rate of cases per 100,000 with 216.0 cases per 100,000 when compared to out geographical neigh bours. The South West case rate is 281.1 per 100,000. 
See slides 14 for more detail

Excess Deaths 

▪ To calculate excess deaths, we monitor the numbers of deaths in the county, and compare that to what we might expect each week (based on the last 5 years mortality data). Monitoring 
of excess deaths up to the 8th January 2021 shows that the current mortality rate in the county is comparable to previous years See slides 15 for more detail

KEY TRENDS: 14th – 20th Jan 2021

P
age 2

P
age 14



P
age 3

P
age 15

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSectionf447f52788ddbc837107?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 4

P
age 16

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSection59ce111f3024cb928e7a?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 5

P
age 17

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSectiona22616d70200b3645e87?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 6

P
age 18

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSection6ba855108c064054a600?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 7

P
age 19

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSection30cfa09ce2a5aa00c360?pbi_source=PowerPoint


District MSOA Name Cumulative Cases
Cumulative Cases 
per 100,000

Latest 7 days 
cases

Latest 7 days 
Cases per 100,000

Previous 7 days 
cases

Previous 7 days 
Cases per 100,000

Cases Direction of 
Travel (numeric) % Change Cases

Gloucester Tredworth 442 5,542.3 43 539.2 36 451.4 3 19.4 %

Gloucester Quedgeley South 557 3,786.3 69 469.0 44 299.1 3 56.8 %

Cotswold Cirencester South 237 3,124.2 34 448.2 18 237.3 3 88.9 %

Gloucester Central Gloucester & Hempsted 553 5,481.8 42 416.3 70 693.9 1 -40.0 %

Gloucester Barton 531 6,457.5 33 401.3 38 462.1 1 -13.2 %

Tewkesbury Highnam, Longford & Norton 221 3,142.3 26 369.7 20 284.4 3 30.0 %

Gloucester Elmbridge 220 3,828.8 21 365.5 18 313.3 3 16.7 %

Gloucester Podsmead & Linden 340 3,814.2 32 359.0 37 415.1 1 -13.5 %

Gloucester Tuffley 243 4,078.5 20 335.7 19 318.9 3 5.3 %

Gloucester Quedgeley North 274 3,752.9 24 328.7 28 383.5 1 -14.3 %

Gloucester Matson & Robinswood 427 4,784.8 29 325.0 53 593.9 1 -45.3 %

Gloucester Abbeymead & Abbeydale 326 3,568.7 29 317.5 29 317.5 2 0.0 %

Cheltenham Springbank 198 3,097.6 20 312.9 17 266.0 3 17.6 %

Cotswold Cirencester East & Stratton 241 2,895.2 26 312.3 18 216.2 3 44.4 %

Cheltenham Oakley 155 2,760.5 17 302.8 25 445.2 1 -32.0 %

Gloucester Coney Hill, Barnwood & Abbeydale 490 4,096.0 36 300.9 25 209.0 3 44.0 %

Tewkesbury Bishop's Cleeve 401 2,552.5 46 292.8 49 311.9 1 -6.1 %

Gloucester Kingsholm & Wotton 437 4,779.1 25 273.4 30 328.1 1 -16.7 %

Gloucester Longlevens 264 3,330.0 21 264.9 20 252.3 3 5.0 %

Cheltenham Pittville & Fairview 291 3,076.8 25 264.3 23 243.2 3 8.7 %

Forest of Dean Cinderford 360 2,748.5 34 259.6 49 374.1 1 -30.6 %

Cheltenham Swindon Village & Wyman's Brook 129 2,368.3 14 257.0 14 257.0 2 0.0 %

P
age 8

P
age 20



P
age 9

P
age 21

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSection2436079f1c38f02a4f7b?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 10

P
age 22

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSection0da36fb33051bb43c94e?pbi_source=PowerPoint


Recovery Indicators 

No change from previous Recovery Indicators – Recovery Indicators are updated monthly. See slide from previous week. 

Slide from 12/01/2021 SCG 

P
age 11

P
age 23



P
age 12

P
age 24

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/db738dff-c56a-4d2a-b516-a1ff86c04663/ReportSection1d10f417c94b8a890022?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 13

P
age 25

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/db738dff-c56a-4d2a-b516-a1ff86c04663/ReportSection34d4892fdf78f87a6741?pbi_source=PowerPoint


Excess Deaths

P
age 14

P
age 26



P
age 15

P
age 27

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/8f22a01c-8ce4-471a-878d-6c8f21686831/ReportSection8ce7ab238cbb59b276f5?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 16

P
age 28

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/db738dff-c56a-4d2a-b516-a1ff86c04663/ReportSection8ce7ab238cbb59b276f5?pbi_source=PowerPoint


P
age 17

P
age 29

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/db738dff-c56a-4d2a-b516-a1ff86c04663/ReportSection53bc60fdbcfe5191cbaa?pbi_source=PowerPoint


T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 30



- 1 -

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
held on Tuesday 9 March 2021

PRESENT

Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair)
Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Iain Dobie (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE
Cllr Terry Hale

Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Brian Robinson

1. APOLOGIES 

No apologies for absence

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest

3. MINUTES 

The minutes of the joint committee meeting held with the Gloucestershire Health 
Scrutiny Committee on 26 January 2021 were noted and agreed as a correct record 
of that meeting. 

4. PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT 

Members received a detailed update from the Executive Director of Adult Social 
Care and Public Health, (Gloucestershire County Council), on matters relating to 
public health, including the response to the COVID-19 Emergency. 

A Covid-19 early warning indicator update was presented at the meeting, providing 
members with the latest information.

Members received an update of the Draft Domestic Abuse Bill, published in January 
2019. The Bill outlined 123 commitments, both legislative and non-legislative, 
designed to:

• promote awareness of domestic abuse
• protect and support victims and their families
• transform the justice process to prioritise victim safety and provide an 

effective response to perpetrators

Page 31



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

• and to drive consistency and better performance in the response to 
domestic abuse across all local areas, agencies and sectors

At the second reading of the Bill in the House of Lords on 5 January 2021, several 
additional recommendations/considerations were made, including; extending the 
statutory duty on Local Authorities to include community-based support services. 
The Bill would be considered at the House of Lords (committee stage)  before 
proceeding to the third reading and any amendments prior to receiving Royal 
Ascent. It was expected that the statutory duties outlined in the Bill/ Act would come 
into force in April 2021. 

Main Statutory Duties of the Domestic Abuse Bill

The Domestic Abuse Bill will place a statutory duty on tier 1 local authorities to 
provide support to victims of domestic abuse and their children within safe 
accommodation, with the aim of achieving consistency across England. It is noted 
that currently the duty does not extend to the provision of community-based support 
for victims of domestic abuse. 

The main requirements under the statutory duty are to: 

 Convene a Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board
 Complete a Needs Assessment
 Develop a Domestic Abuse Strategy and commission appropriately
 Monitor and Report to Government
 LAs to have regard to Statutory Guidance in exercising the above functions
 Tier 2 local authorities to co-operate with tier 1 local authorities

The committee was informed that Gloucestershire was well placed to implement the 
Bill and statutory duties, with the work being led by Tina Hemingway (Outcome 
Manager) and Sophie Jarrett (County Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
Strategic Coordinator). All requirements had been considered and appropriate 
actions taken. The Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Commissioning Group 
would oversee the required activity and reconvene as the Domestic Abuse Local 
Partnership Board.  

Rapid research proposal 
Rapid insight research had been commissioned to better understand attitudes and 
behaviours relating to self-isolating and accessing COVID-19 testing. This 
qualitative research to target critical workers (those who cannot work from home) 
who live in areas of high deprivation and/or near to a community testing site. It 
sought to develop: 

 A clear understanding of the motives, barriers and implications of self-
isolating and/or testing in different scenarios 

 A clear qualitative insight into the needs and solutions to influence residents 
to comply with self-isolating and access testing

Page 32



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

 Insight-led recommendations for incentives/solutions that will influence and 
encourage compliance with the 4 desired behaviours 

A research report would be completed in early March. 

Communications update
From the beginning of 2021, focus on activity had been placed on supporting the 
Government’s: ‘Stay at home, Save Lives’ message, community testing and the roll-
out of the COVID-19 vaccination programme: 

Activity included:

 Gloucestershire County Council joined NextDoor – a social site that helps us 
target our vital Covid messages at a hyperlocal level

 The county’s first community testing centre opened at the Friendship café in 
Gloucester. Residents who still have to leave home for either work or caring 
responsibilities were invited to get a rapid, regular test. This was promoted 
via Gloucester FM, translated audio and posters, direct communications to 
parents via schools, Nextdoor and the media 

 Promotion of the Holiday School Meals voucher scheme for February half 
term via social media 

 Nearly 300,000 COVID-19 support leaflets were delivered to households 
across the county and included information on: looking after your mental 
health and wellbeing, financial support to help people to stay at home and 
more

 Lamppost signs across the county will be replaced to reflect the positive 
impact that lockdown has had on Covid cases in the county, with the 
message ‘Help beat COVID-19’ 

 We shared a video from Gloucester Rugby encouraging people to follow the 
rules so that they can get back ‘in the shed’ 

 NHS partners have been sharing details of the progress of the COVID-19 
vaccination programme roll out. This includes the county council’s efforts to 
reach frontline health and social care staff. Members of the county’s Warning 
and Informing communications group have been supporting the efforts

 Gloucestershire Constabulary had been promoting enforcement activity 
during lockdown, reminding people to stick to the rules or face a fine

 On Valentines Day, social media had been used to encourage people to 
‘Spread the love, not the virus’ 

COVID-19 Vaccination Update: Social care staff vaccine roll out
The roll out of the NHS C19 vaccination programme had recently been extended to 
frontline social care staff (known as priority cohort 2). Directorates across GCC had 
been working collectively to identify not only their own eligible staff, but to invite 
social care providers in Gloucestershire into the local NHS vaccination programme, 
issuing letters of eligibility to evidence their priority for vaccination.

Priority cohort 2 included CQC-registered providers, and / or other non-registered 
organisations who employed frontline care workers providing care to individuals 

Page 33



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

clinically vulnerable to COVID infection. This included homelessness services and 
other community provision to those with severe mental health diagnosis and/or 
learning disabilities, as well as older adult social care.

Vaccinations Equity
A countywide COVID-19 Vaccinations Equity Group had convened at the end of 
January, chaired by Paul Roberts (Chief Executive of Gloucestershire Health and 
Care NHS Foundation Trust). The purpose of the group was to support equitable 
uptake of COVID-19 vaccinations across the population of Gloucestershire. The 
objectives of the group were to:

• Ensure robust data is collected that allow the group to identify and then 
measure any inequalities of uptake

• Consider and take into account the national evidence on vaccine hesitancy 
to supplement local data

• Engage and involve relevant groups who are not coming forward for 
vaccination

• Identify the reasons for vaccine hesitancy
• Agree strategies and interventions to address the issues raised
• Evaluate the strategies and interventions to ensure they are effective
• Share data and activity with the Gloucestershire COVID-19 Mass 

Vaccination Command Group and other key stakeholders

The Group had reviewed published evidence on COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy or 
refusal and what might work to encourage and enable vaccine uptake. This had 
been supplemented with local data on vaccine uptake across different population 
groups, local insight research and feedback during engagement activities, and the 
impact data and learning that we gather as interventions are delivered. A ‘test and 
learn’ approach had been taken to ensure the programme could adapt and improve 
effectively within the Gloucestershire Mass Vaccination Programme timelines. 
Efforts were being taken to co-design interventions where timescales and resources 
allowed. 

A HealthWatch England survey was being undertaken to explore intentions to take 
up the vaccine and potential barriers. The Vaccinations Equity group was 
considering adaptations to the survey for targeted local use. 

Conversations were ongoing regarding the vaccination of individuals resident in the 
Forest of Dean but registered with a GP in Wales, with studies to explore the risk of 
inequity, given the different trajectories for vaccine roll-out between the two 
countries.

In addition, representations had been made to the Gloucestershire COVID-19 Mass 
Vaccination Command Group to consider rough sleepers and asylum seekers as 
priority groups for vaccination under JCVI group 4, which included those who were 
extremely clinically vulnerable. This had been agreed on the basis of the likely 
vulnerability and exposure of this group and steps were underway to encourage 
and enable them to come forward for vaccination. 

Page 34



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Finally, the council was participating in a newly convened South West PHE regional 
network for Health Inequalities and COVID-19 Vaccinations to share learning and 
good practice.

Long Term Impact of COVID-19/Health Inequalities and COVID-19

Health Inequalities Framework / Toolkit
An outline of the toolkit and its range of tools had been presented to CCG 
colleagues in February.  There was considerable support for the approach and 
agreement to test relevant tools in partnership. The idea was for the tools to be 
tested and simplified so that they can picked up by partnerships, organisations and 
services across the system to help them take a more systematic approach to 
understanding and acting on the inequalities in their area.  

Update on community testing 
Two asymptomatic community testing sites had been set up in Gloucestershire and 
a third opening later in the Spring: - 

 Friendship Café, Gloucester – opened on 13th January
 Royal Agricultural University, Cirencester – opened on 17th February
 Miners Welfare Hall, Cinderford – due to open by 10th March

Rapid COVID-19 tests were available to people who lived or worked in 
Gloucestershire, who needed to leave the house because of work or caring 
responsibilities. People were being encouraged to take the test twice a week, 
receiving their result within an hour of their test. Anyone who tested positive was 
followed up by the local Health Protection team to reinforce self isolation messages 
and, in certain cases, provide rapid action to prevent potential outbreaks in high risk 
settings.

As of 21st February 2021
:
 3,244 tests had been carried out in Gloucester, with 21 positive cases found

 152 tests had been carried out in Cirencester, with 1 positive cases found

GCC had been actively working with DHSC to make rapid tests available to more 
people across the county and planning the roll out of further sites to be confirmed in 
the coming weeks. 

Impact of Covid-19 on sexual health

In common with other health services, sexual health services had been impacted by 
the pandemic. Provisional data collated by PHE (December 2020) showed that the 
number of consultations carried out by specialist sexual health services had fallen 
during the first lockdown; along with rates of STI testing and new STI diagnoses. 
While there had been some recovery when lockdown measures had eased; 
nationally the numbers of consultations, tests and diagnoses in the summer of 2020 
remained considerably below the same period in 2019. National data for the latter 

Page 35



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

part of last year was not yet available, but it was likely that attendances and activity 
would remain below expected levels.

The local sexual health service had remained open throughout the pandemic, but 
had needed to adapt to how services were provided to ensure the safety of staff 
and patients; and the resilience of the service.  Clinics were largely concentred in 
the central Hope House hub in Gloucester; facilities to enable remote tele-
consultations are in place; and vulnerable/high risk patients are being prioritised. 
The county had an established programme of online STI testing which had ensured 
STI tests have remained accessible.

Young People 
It was agreed it was important to continue to look at the support for young people’s 
wellbeing across the pathway from prevention and early intervention to more 
specialist care. A new mental health CYP strategic response group had been set up 
to help co-ordinate the local response. The group would bring together 
commissioners and providers, and representatives from education, supported by 
the Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning programme. 

The Committee would be kept up to date on work locally to support young people’s 
mental health. 

The report was noted.

5. ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT 

The committee received an update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
and Public Health, (Gloucestershire County Council), on matters relating to adult 
social care, including the response to the COVID-19 Emergency.

The report was noted.

6. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

The committee received a detailed update on matters relating to the delivery of 
services within the Chief Fire Officer, (Gloucestershire), portfolio of services, 
comprising; Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Civil 
Protection and Coroners Services.

The update was noted.

7. WORK PLAN REVIEW 2017-21 

The committee noted the items of scrutiny that had been considered during the 
previous four years and invited to submit any suggestions on items for 
consideration by the new committee after the council elections in May 2021. 

Page 36



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.50am 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health

6 July 2021 – Public Health Update

Purpose 

The purpose of this paper is to update the Adult Social Care and Scrutiny Committee 
on topical issues relating to Public Health; all issues that have been under the 
spotlight during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The paper includes updates on plans to invest national funding on rough sleeping 
and adult weight management services; and more detailed reports on health 
inequalities; public mental health and suicide; and domestic abuse. 

Action on Health Inequalities 

Introduction
Health inequalities are the ‘avoidable and unfair differences in people’s health across 
different population groups’ which are a result of social inequalities ‘in the conditions 
in which people are born, grow, live, work and age’1. 
Health inequalities have been documented between population groups across at 
least four dimensions, with people often falling into more than one category.

• Socio-economic status and deprivation: e.g. unemployed, low income, people 
living in deprived areas (e.g. poor housing, poor education and/or 
unemployment).

• Protected characteristics: e.g. age, sex, race, sexual orientation, disability
• Vulnerable groups or ‘inclusion health’ groups: e.g. vulnerable migrants; Gypsy, 

Roma and Traveller communities; rough sleepers and homeless
• Geography: e.g. urban, rural2.

While there are significant overlaps between health inequalities and Equity, Diversity 
and Inclusion agendas, health equality and heath equity are not the same (Figure 1).

1 Marmot, M. et al (2010) Fair Society, Healthy Lives. www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-
lives-themarmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf 
2 https://www.england.nhs.uk/ltphimenu/definitions-for-health-inequalities/ 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-themarmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-themarmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ltphimenu/definitions-for-health-inequalities/


2

Figure 1: Equality vs equity 

In planning where to allocate effort and resources to address health inequalities it is 
worth a reminder of the determinants of health, and their relative contributions to 
health outcomes (Figure 2). 

Figure 2: Determinants of health – estimated contributions3

Reducing health inequalities requires a community-centred, place-based whole 
system response, which brings multiple stakeholders together to develop a shared 
understanding of the challenges and to integrate action to bring about change4.

3 Park, H et al (2015) Relative Contributions to a Set of Health Factors to Selected Health Outcomes. Am J Prev Med Elsevier; 
49(6):961-9 
4 Stansfield J, South J, Mapplethorpe T. What are the elements of a whole system approach to community-centred public 
health? A qualitative study with public health leaders in England’s local authority areas. BMJ Open 2020;10:e036044. 
doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2019-036044

Equality = Sameness

The offer only works if 
everyone starts from the 
same place

Equity = Fairness

Making sure people get 
access to the same 
opportunity

Page 40



3

The ‘Marmot Review: 10 Years On’ emphasises the vital role local authorities and 
partners have to play in tackling health inequalities; taking action to address the 
social, economic and environmental determinants of health through action on six 
policy objectives:  

 give every child the best start in life
 enable all children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities and 

have control over their lives
 create fair employment and good work for all
 ensure healthy standard of living for all
 create and develop healthy and sustainable places and communities, and
 strengthen the role and impact of ill-health prevention1.

COVID-19 has exposed and amplified the health inequalities that already existed in 
the country and has presented a new imperative for effective action – and the 
opportunity to ‘build back fairer’1.

Health inequalities in Gloucestershire
The Public Health England (PHE) ‘Health Inequalities Dashboard’ provides 
information to monitor progress on reducing health inequalities through 19 key 
indicators. It measures trends in each indicator since a baseline period, with longer 
term data provided where available. A snapshot of the current position in 
Gloucestershire, compared to baseline data from up to ten years ago, is given in 
Appendix 1. We have access to a wealth other data as system partners that we can 
use to answer questions around health inequalities. The ICS is improving insight into 
risk and vulnerability through the use of Population Health Management (PHM) and 
risk stratification data, alongside collaboration with existing place-based networks to 
share insights.

Using the PHE Dashboard indicators to provide a snapshot, the local picture is one 
of ‘no significant change or modest improvement’ across the majority of indicators. 
The notable exception is for obesity among reception-age children, with the 2019-20 
data suggesting significantly greater prevalence compared to 2015-16. [NB: 2020 
data should be interpreted with caution due to school closures affecting the sample 
size]. 

We will undertake further analysis across these indicators and a wider dataset, 
including inclusion of 2020-21 data to better understand the impact of COVID-19. 
Key to bringing the components of this approach together will be to ensure that 
communities themselves are properly represented in sharing, collecting and 
interpreting insights and translating them into action. 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2019-2030) (JHWS) is the key strategic 
driver for the work on prevention and health inequalities in Gloucestershire.  
Alongside this the NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) provides the overarching framework 
for the work of the Integrated Care System (ICS) on prevention and health 
inequalities. Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board (GHWB), the ICS Board 
and member organisations have committed to embedding action on health 
inequalities across their strategic priorities and are already taking forward multiple 
programmes of work to address health inequalities. However, there is a need to 

Page 41



4

refocus these efforts in the light of Covid recovery and learning from the pandemic 
and ensure we can use this opportunity to create a coherent ‘whole system’ 
approach to deliver long- term sustainable change. 

To this end Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing and ICS Boards have agreed to 
convene a countywide Health Inequalities Panel to coordinate the developing health 
inequalities agenda (first meeting to be held in June). In addition, part of the Covid 
Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) is being invested in measures to mitigate 
disparities in the longer-term impact of Covid on our communities, including 
resources to support community resilience.   

Priorities going forwards include: 

 Reinstating the commissioned services within Public Health that have been 
impacted by Covid-19

 Activities with a clear health and care service focus (including delivery against 
NHS England’s ‘five urgent actions’ on health inequalities)

 Strengthening action on the wider social, behavioural, environmental and 
economic determinants of health

 Continuing to implement recommendations of the 2020 Annual Report of the 
Director of Public Health, to help mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on ethnic 
minorities 

 Maximising the synergies across other strategic priorities, including the Health 
and Wellbeing Board’s priorities, and the equity, diversity and inclusion agenda. 

 Progressing work on system enablers including a Health Inequalities Toolkit to 
equip those acting to reduce health inequalities with the tools to do so effectively

 Working with the Clinical Commissioning Group, VCS and wider partners on the 
King’s Fund’s Healthier Communities Together programme, which aims to 
produce a catalytic shift in the relationships and power in our system to ultimately 
help to close the healthy life expectancy gap

 Further development of a local ‘anchor institutions’ approach to supporting the 
economy and reducing health inequalities.  This approach capitalises on the 
leverage of organisations such as local authorities, the NHS and educational 
institutions as employers, purchasers, land and asset owners and community 
leaders.

Public Mental Health and Suicide Prevention

Responding to the pandemic 

The pandemic has put a spotlight on mental health and wellbeing. National surveys5 
suggest that the proportion of people experiencing symptoms of anxiety and 
depression has increased compared to the pre-pandemic level. While many people’s 
wellbeing will improve as society opens up, there will be a long-term impact from 
factors such as bereavement, post-traumatic stress, recession, and post Covid 
syndrome. It is important that we continue to plan for this.

5 Office of National Statistics (May 2021) Coronavirus and depression in adults, Great Britain: January to March 
2021.

Page 42



5

The multi-agency Mental Health and Wellbeing Cell, chaired jointly by Public Health 
and the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is continuing to meet on a monthly 
basis to co-ordinate our local response and share intelligence with system partners. 
The terms of reference are being reviewed as the Cell looks ahead to the new 
phase.

The Cell is overseeing a number of ongoing work-streams, including: 

- modelling the impact of the pandemic on future demand for mental health 
support in the county; 

- supporting the development of a new county-wide communications campaign, 
Be Well Gloucestershire to raise awareness of the range of support available; 
and

- initiatives to support the wellbeing of the workforce, including frontline workers 
in the health and social care sector.

Targeted communications have been sent to Care Home providers in the county to 
promote the mental health support available for their staff; and Covid Outbreak 
Management Fund (COMF) money has been used to fund a package of additional 
wellbeing support for teachers. The Integrated Care System (ICS) has also secured 
NHS England funding to develop a new ‘wellbeing hub’ for the county’s health and 
social care workforce. The hub will work alongside existing occupational health offers 
and make it as easy as possible for staff to access support when they need it. 

The local picture

Through the work of the Cell, we can monitor need and demand for mental health 
support across services. As reported previously, activity data continues to show an 
increase in referrals to children and young people’s mental health services, 
particularly following the reopening of schools.  There are also signs that children are 
presenting with a higher level of need. A range of work is underway to address this, 
including additional investment from the CCG in the Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health Service (CYPS), support in schools (via the Trailblazer programme 
and Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning), and the development of a new 
social prescribing pilot for children and young people (commissioned by the CCG). 

Acute mental health admissions for adults (under the Mental Health Act) have been 
above the same period pre-pandemic. This is an indication of the number of people 
presenting in severe mental distress or crisis in the community.  As part of the 
response, Gloucestershire Health and Care (GHC) have set up a multi-agency task 
and finish group with the CCG to take forward a number of new schemes to support 
discharge from acute psychiatric beds and follow-up care for vulnerable patients. 
Initiatives include working with Alexandra Wellbeing House to offer support for those 
at risk of mental health crisis and/or relapse; the development of community based 
support schemes in conjunction with the VCS, and the roll out of a new Complex 
Emotional Needs Service. 

Not everyone who is struggling with their mental health will present to services and 
there is likely to be a level of ‘hidden need’ in the community, particularly among 
people experiencing low mood, stress and anxiety. 

Page 43

https://www.bewellglos.org.uk/


6

Provision of additional support services

At the outset of the pandemic, the Council commissioned a number of additional 
mental health services to extend the options available to people seeking help. These 
will remain in place through to early 2022.  The services provide early intervention 
support to stop problems escalating and include new open access online mental 
wellbeing platforms for young people and adults  (Kooth and Qwell), and TIC+ Chat 
an anonymous helpline offering phone or text support to those aged 11 - 21 years.  
As of the end of May, Kooth and Qwell had 963 and 1268 registered users 
respectively. At the end of April, TIC+ Chat had supported over 361 young people 
mainly experiencing anxiety and stress. 

The Council also commissioned a 1:1 counselling service (provided by 
Gloucestershire Counselling Service) for adults whose mental health has been more 
severely impacted by the pandemic and who wouldn’t be able to self-fund their 
therapy. A total of 152 individuals referred to the service to date have opted to take 
up the counselling offer. 

The new services are working alongside existing mental health services in the 
county, including the Let’s Talk Service and the Children and Young people’s Mental 
Health Service (CYPS) to provide a comprehensive support offer. 

The Public Mental Health team also provide free training to professionals and 
volunteers on topics including suicide prevention, Mental Health First Aid, and self-
harm awareness. Recession is a known risk factor for poor mental health and last 
year, the Council commissioned a new mental health awareness course for people 
working with individuals affected by redundancy and financial concerns.

GloW Community grants

The Council has recently announced details of the projects receiving funding under 
the new GloW (Gloucestershire Wellbeing) community grant scheme.  15 community 
led projects will receive funding for initiatives aimed at improving mental wellbeing 
and reducing social isolation among groups at higher risk of poor mental health and 
suicide. These projects include: counselling support and ‘safe spaces’ for young 
people, a new suicide bereavement support group, and wellbeing support for women 
experiencing postnatal depression. 

The grant scheme is being funded under monies received by the Council from the 
NHS England Suicide Prevention transformation Fund.

Suicide prevention

Public Health has the lead responsibility for suicide prevention in the county. The 
work is co-ordinated via the multi agency Suicide Prevention Steering Group which 
brings together a number of partners, including the police, Gloucestershire Health 
and Care, and the Coroners Office. The group is currently overseeing the completion 
of the county’s Suicide Audit. The Audit reviews all deaths from suicide among 
Gloucestershire residents which occur in the county and are registered within the 
Audit period in order to identify common risk factors and key learnings. The findings 
will inform the upcoming refresh of the county’s suicide prevention strategy and 
action plan. 

Page 44



7

The steering group also carry out real time surveillance of suspected suicides in the 
county drawing on information from the police and Coroners Office. This data is used 
to identify any emerging issues or signs of potential ‘clusters’ (deaths from suicide 
which are linked in some way). National surveillance data6 on suspected suicides 
through the pandemic period does not suggest that there was a rise in suspected 
suicides following the first lockdown based on the analysis to date. However these 
are early figures and the picture could change, especially given the long term impact 
of economic adversity on mental health and suicide. 

In addition to preventing suicide, providing better information and support to those 
bereaved or affected by suicide is a priority action in the government’s national 
suicide prevention strategy. Gloucestershire has recently been awarded funding from 
NHS England to commission a new local support service for people bereaved 
through suicide. The service will provide a liaison officer to help bereaved families 
through the coronial process and receive support with their emotional wellbeing. It is 
hoped that the service will be rolled out in the autumn.

Setting our future priorities

In addition to the work outlined above, the Council will be working with the CCG and 
Gloucestershire Mental Health Partnership Board to look at lessons emerging from 
the impact of the pandemic on mental health, and consider how we might adapt the 
county’s existing mental health strategy to respond. This work will help inform our 
priorities for mental health and wellbeing through the recovery phase and beyond. 

Domestic Abuse

Domestic abuse (DA) causes harm to adults, children and communities; violates 
human rights and can affect anyone regardless of age, gender, sexuality, race, 
income, class, mental or physical ability and lifestyle. 

There is increasing awareness and understanding that DA takes many forms and it 
is now understood to be far more prevalent than previously assumed.  We also know 
that the emotional, academic and life chances of children who witness DA can be 
damaged by their experiences.  There are high economic, social and human costs 
on public services, communities and individuals as a result of DA.

Effective responses to DA require multi-agency co-operation and agreement for both 
the commissioning and delivery of services; and there is a clear expectation from 
government in the new Domestic Abuse Act 20217 that all publically funded partners 
should work together.

Mechanism for Commissioning DA in Gloucestershire

In 2013, the Council re-commissioned DA specialist support services for victims as a 
community-based model enabling victims to stay in their own home where it is safe 
to do so, rather than through an accommodation-based support model of delivery 

6 University of Manchester & NCISH (2021) Suicide in England since the COVID-19 pandemic - early figures 
from real-time surveillance.
7 Domestic Abuse Act 2021 (legislation.gov.uk)    

Page 45

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted


8

(i.e. refuges). The model included help desk, one to one support for victims across 
the spectrum of risk, group work support for victims 16+ in line with the government 
definition of DA and enabled many more victims of DA to be supported. Children 
were considered within the context of the family. 

 
In 2014, in response to government drivers, including that DA cannot be addressed 
by one agency alone, a new joint countywide strategic approach was developed for 
DA and sexual violence, accompanied by new governance arrangements. A 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (DASV) Commissioning Group was convened, 
made up of partner agencies that were investing in DA (Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC), the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), 
Gloucestershire Constabulary, District Councils, Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and Probation.  They developed a Gloucestershire 
Joint Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (DASV) Commissioning Strategy and 
Outcomes Framework (2014 - 2018). This strategy set out a collective commitment 
by partners to a joint strategic vision, principles and commissioning outcomes for DA. 

The outcomes being sought were to:

 Focus on early help (alongside specialist support for victims) for 
individuals and the whole family affected by DA

 Ensure health, social care and other professionals who are in contact with 
families vulnerable to DASV are confident and competent in their response 
to support them, creating environments for disclosure at all levels

 Provide a co-ordinated approach across partner agencies, aligning 
commissioning and delivery of DASV services to ensure effective and 
efficient use of resources.

The strategy was supported by an implementation plan, overseen by a multi-agency 
DASV Implementation Group. Although the strategy and outcomes framework  (2014 
– 2018) were due to be refreshed by 2019 it was agreed that as the strategy 
remained relevant, it would be better to wait until the Domestic Abuse Bill had been 
passed before refreshing it to ensure that our commissioning captured any additional 
outcomes and duties as identified by the Act.  

In 2018, to strengthen Gloucestershire’s joint agency commitment and response to 
DA, the DASV Commissioning Group created a five year DA Joint Commissioning 
Framework (DA Framework) to improve joint commissioning of DA services with 
partners at a strategic level and align current and future investment in DA across the 
county to:

 maintain the specialist approach for high risk victims and their families
 shift over time towards prevention and away from reactive crisis
 increasingly integrate provision and influence practice across the system
 support the development of a more confident system wide workforce
 collect shared robust intelligence

The DA Framework includes for the procurement of specialist DA services for victims 
16+, places of safety, addressing perpetrator behaviour, young people 13+, early 
identification and workforce development activity and services to address stalking 
outside the context of DA. The DA Framework does not include commissioning 

Page 46



9

activity for children under 13 years; this is addressed by the GCC Children and 
Families Commissioning Hub. In 2020/21 the core service, which is operated by 
Greensquare Accord under the name of GDASS, received over 7000 referrals, up 
from 5,700 in 2017/18.

Funding for specialist DA services (which are not statutory) has been maintained 
over the period 2013-21.  

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021

In spring 2018, the Government conducted a public consultation on ‘Transforming 
the Response to Domestic Abuse’.  The Government response to the consultation 
and a draft Domestic Abuse Bill were published in January 2019.  The response set 
out 123 commitments, both legislative and non-legislative, designed to promote 
awareness of domestic abuse; protect and support victims and their families; 
transform the justice process to prioritise victim safety and provide an effective 
response to perpetrators; and to drive consistency and better performance in the 
response to domestic abuse across all local areas, agencies and sectors. 

The DA Bill had its first reading in the House of Commons in July 2019 and its 
second reading in October 2019. In December 2019 the new Government was 
elected with a manifesto commitment to “support all victims of domestic abuse and 
pass the Domestic Abuse Bill” originally introduced in the previous Parliament. The 
Bill was reintroduced in March 2020 and received Royal Ascent in April 20218.  

The aim of the Act is to raise awareness and understanding about the devastating 
impact of domestic abuse on victims and their families; further improve the 
effectiveness of the justice system in providing protection for victims of domestic 
abuse and bringing perpetrators to justice; and strengthen the support for victims of 
abuse by statutory agencies.

The main requirements under the statutory duty are to: 

1. Convene a Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board (LPB)
2. Complete a Needs Assessment
3. Develop a Domestic Abuse Strategy and commission appropriately
4. Monitor and Report to Government
5. LAs to have regard to Statutory Guidance in exercising the above functions
6. Tier 2 local authorities to co-operate with tier 1 local authorities 

The Act creates a statutory definition of domestic abuse, emphasising that domestic 
abuse is not just physical violence, but can also be emotional, controlling or coercive, 
and economic abuse and establishes in law the office of Domestic Abuse 
Commissioner, setting out the Commissioner’s functions and powers.  Importantly, it 
places a statutory duty on tier 1 local authorities to provide support to victims of 
domestic abuse and their children within refuge and other domestic abuse safe 
accommodation, with the aim of achieving consistency across England.  

8 The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 

Page 47

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted


10

Safe accommodation is defined by the MHCLG to include9:

 Refuge accommodation – a refuge offers accommodation and intensive 
support which is tied to that accommodation. Victims, including their children, 
have to be refuge residents to access specialist emotional and practical 
support.

 Specialist safe accommodation – safe accommodation services which 
provide dedicated specialist support to victims with protected characteristics 
and/or complex needs, such as specialist refuges for BAME, LGBT, and 
disabled victims and their children.

 Dispersed accommodation - Safe, self-contained accommodation with the 
same level of specialist domestic abuse support as provided within a refuge 
but which may be more suitable for victims who are unable to stay in a refuge 
with communal spaces due to complex support needs or for families with 
teenage sons for example. Safe, self-contained ‘semi-independent’ 
accommodation which is not within a refuge but with floating support for 
victims who do not require the intense support offered through refuge.

 Sanctuary Schemes – properties within Sanctuary Schemes or other similar 
schemes which provide enhanced security measures. A Sanctuary Scheme is 
a survivor centred initiative which aims to make it possible for survivors of 
domestic abuse to remain in their own homes, where it is safe for them to do 
so, where it is their choice, and where the perpetrator does not live in the 
accommodation. This is done by providing additional security – ‘installing a 
sanctuary’ – to the victims’ property or perimeter.

 Move-on and / or second stage accommodation – interchangeable terms 
for projects temporarily accommodating victims, including families who no 
longer need the intensive level of support provided in a refuge, but would still 
benefit from a lower level of domestic abuse specific support for a period 
before they move to fully independent and permanent accommodation. 

The MHCLG will allocate non ring-fenced funding on an annul basis to support Tier 
One and Tier Two local authorities to fulfil their statutory obligations with respect to 
this duty. For 2021/22 Gloucestershire County Council has been allocated 
£1,105,661 which includes funding for support to DA victims and their children in DA 
safe accommodation and the associated administrative burdens.  The district 
councils have been allocated a combined total of £198,956 to cover their 
administrative burdens.

We are required to prepare a domestic abuse needs assessment and strategy every 
three years with an annual refresh.  The deadline for the first strategy to be 
submitted to the DA Commissioner is August this year.  We will also need to prepare 
an annual report on investment and impact with the first report due in June 2022.

Implementation of the DA Act in Gloucestershire

9 MHCLG definition provided Future Delivery of Support to Victims and their Children in Accommodation-Based 
Domestic Abuse Services: Consultation Response (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

Page 48

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_datahttps:/assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/839171/Domestic_Abuse_Duty_Gov_Response_to_Consultation.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_datahttps:/assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/839171/Domestic_Abuse_Duty_Gov_Response_to_Consultation.pdf


11

Progress to date is good.  We have convened the new Domestic Abuse Local 
Partnership Board (LPB) which consists of multi-agency Strategic, Operational and 
Consultation Groups which report up to Safer Gloucestershire (with a dotted line to 
the Health and Wellbeing Board) and link closely with the Safeguarding Boards and 
the Sexual Violence Partnership Board amongst others.  

We have commenced work on our DA needs assessment and have commissioned a 
local research provider, ‘Perpetuity’, to carry out engagement and consultation work.  
We have widened the scope to include, in addition to accommodation based support: 
community based support; how we respond to perpetrators; the impact on children 
(light touch at the moment but we will pick this up in more detail at a later date); and 
the picture of stalking, honour based violence and forced marriage as well as the 
views of those with lived experience and the general community.  We hope to have 
the needs assessment completed by mid July but early findings indicate a need to 
explore our response to protected characteristic groups (BAME and LGBTQ) as well 
as those with no recourse to public funds.  Complex needs are also a theme linked 
to accommodation based support.

MHCLG will adjust our funding for 2022/23 based on investment this year. In light of 
this, we have gained agreement from the LPB to take a two phase approach to 
allocation of the funding whereby we make an initial investment in areas we already 
know improve outcomes and then allocate the remaining funds once we have the 
intelligence from our needs assessment and have agreed a strategic direction.

Finally, we have consulted with the LPB groups with regard to our statutory duty to 
provide domestic abuse support in refuge and other domestic abuse safe 
accommodation and the LPB has recommended to Cabinet the following options be 
progressed for initial investment of the MHCLG funding:

 Places of Safety – specialist support  and housing management in an 
additional 12 new PoS properties

 Dispersed Refuge – support in 2 x 4 bed units in Gloucester
 Refuge – additional 70 staffing hours per week
 Flexible Funding Scheme – part of the Whole Housing Approach, to be 

allocated via our main provider, GDASS
 Floating Support/Mobile Advocacy – additional capacity 
 Access to target hardening/Sanctuary
 DA Intervention Post for the Districts
 Specialist DA advocates in housing teams
 DA training for the housing sector
 DA housing champions

Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI)

The Partnership has been awarded £867,965 under MHCLG’s Rough Sleeping 
Initiative (RSI)4 for the 9-month period from July 2021 to March 2022. This will 
enable us to sustain the current Somewhere Safe to Stay Hubs in Gloucester and 
Cheltenham; to continue the Hospital in reach; and operate a larger Assertive 
Outreach Team.

Page 49



12

The award also includes provision for an expansion of the current Hub and ‘Staging 
Post’ model. New dedicated Rough Sleeper Adult Social Care and Housing Options 
interventions officers have also been funded to complement the continuation of the 
existing multi disciplinary Navigator Service (Housing, Mental Health and Drug & 
Alcohol Navigators). 

Finally, the award includes £112,000 provided for an Enhanced Placement Fund to 
ensure that verified rough sleepers have an off the street accommodation offer. 

District councils have received additional Emergency Accommodation Uplifts directly 
to cover local costs for accommodating rough sleepers during April – June 2021.

Adult Weight Management Services – New Funding for 2021/22 

Introduction 

Tackling obesity is one of the greatest long-term health challenges faced in England 
Around two thirds of adults in England are overweight (61.4% in Gloucestershire) 
and almost half of these living with obesity.  Obesity prevalence is highest among the 
most deprived groups in society.  Obesity is associated with reduced life expectancy 
and a range of health conditions, including type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, 
respiratory disease and cancer. It also impacts on mental health.

The financial impact of obesity on the NHS is already well documented. Less well 
evidenced is the impact of severe obesity on adult social care. However, in 2019 an 
LGA report found that people with severe obesity are three times more likely to need 
social care than those with a healthy weight. Public Health England estimates that at 
a national level the direct social care costs for adult care are around £352 million per 
annum. 

A review of the impact of severe obesity on adult social care in Gloucestershire was 
undertaken in 2019-20.  While there are gaps in the local data, qualitative feedback 
has confirmed that the care needs of individuals with severe obesity are indeed 
impacting on services with potentially substantial financial implications for our 
Integrated Care System. Issues include: increase likelihood of requiring care; the 
availability of bariatric facilities and equipment in health and care settings; delays in 
hospital discharge due to availability of bariatric equipment and the need for 
adaptations within the home or care setting e.g. doorways widening; and the need 
for additional staffing, and training, to meet specific care needs of those with severe 
obesity.  

The escalating impact of adult obesity on the individuals themselves, and on the 
health and care system, underscores the need for effective early interventions for 
adults affected by obesity, including Tier 2 community based weight management.

National Weight Management Offers

The NHS Long Term Plan (2019)  included national provision for obesity ‘treatment’ 
including access to weight management services in primary care for all people with 
obesity (BMI 30+) with a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes or hypertension.  

Page 50



13

In the wake of COVID-19, and the evidence of a link between obesity and increased 
severity of infection, there is a new national obesity strategy ‘Empowering adults and 
children to live healthier lives’ (2020)10 and additional national investment for weight 
management. 

New initiatives include:

 Digital weight management apps, including an ‘Air  Miles’ type points scheme 
to reward ‘fit miles’ and eating well

 Weight management training for primary care staff 
 Individual ‘health and wellbeing coaches’ for primary care 
 Enhanced Service discussions underway with the British Medical Association

There is also new non-recurrent funding to Local Authorities to expand existing Tier 
2 (non-clinical, community-based) weight management services or invest in new 
services where there is no provision. Under this initiative the Council has been 
allocated £189k to invest in Tier 2 weight management for adults in 2021/22. This 
funding is subject to strict criteria and must be invested in-year.

In Gloucestershire we already have well established Tier 2 services and countywide 
coverage, which includes:

 Slimming World groups via a 12-weeek ‘on referral’ programme
 Digital weight management provided by WW, introduced during the pandemic 

as an alternative to face to face support
 One to one behaviour change coaching provided by our Integrated Healthy 

Lifestyles Service.

While we will step up efforts to improve access to these offers for those who are 
currently underrepresented, we are also aware that the current Tier 2 offers are less 
able to meet the needs of individuals with significant mental health comorbidity or 
those who need support to break away from unhelpful cycles of dieting, but who do 
not meet the criteria for Tier 3 clinical weight management. It is therefore our 
intention to work with existing Tier 2 and Tier 3 weight management providers, and 
with individuals accessing the service, to co-design and test a weight management 
offer with enhanced behavioural and psychological support for this cohort during 
2021/22.  At the same time we are working to integrate the suite of national offers 
into the existing local weight management system. 

In Summary

This paper highlights a range of Public Health issues that have been under the 
spotlight during the COVID-19 pandemic, and which will require renewed focus 
during recovery.  The Public Health team within the Prevention, Wellbeing and 
Communities and COVID-19 hubs continue to respond directly to the pandemic 
itself, while taking the necessary steps to recover and build on our learning to help 
mitigate the immediate and longer-term impacts of COVID-19 on our communities. 

10 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-obesity-government-strategy 

Page 51

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-obesity-government-strategy


14

Page 52



15

Appendix 1: PHE Health Inequalities Dashboard for Gloucestershire 

 significantly better  no significant change  significantly worse no significance calculated / not available

Table 2: Trends in Indicators of Health Inequality in Gloucestershire (Extract from Public Health England’s Health Inequalities Dashboard 06/03/2021) 

Domain Indicator Group Measure Baseline 
period

Baseline 
value

Reporting 
period

Reporting 
value

Absolute 
change

Trend

Value 2011-13 79.8 2017-19 80.6 0.8 Life expectancy at birth (males)
LSOA deprivation 
deciles

Slope index of 
inequality

2011-13 7.6 2017-19 7.6 0.0 

Value 2011-13 83.7 2017-19 84.0 0.3 Life expectancy at birth (females)
LSOA deprivation 
deciles

Slope index of 
inequality

2011-13 6.1 2017-19 5.4 -0.7 

Healthy life expectancy at birth (males) Value 2011-13 63.3 2016-18 68.1 4.8 

Overarching 
indicators 

Healthy life expectancy at birth (females) 2011-13 66.2 2016-18 67.2 1.0 
Children in absolute low income families 
(under 16s)

Value 2014-15 13.7 2018-19 10.4 -3.3 

Children in relative low income families 
(under 16s)

Value 2014-15 13.9 2018-19 12.7 -1.2 

Value 2012-13 48.0 2018-19 28.1 -19.9 

FSM status Relative gap 2012-13 1.5 2018-19 1.8 0.3 

School readiness: % of children not achieving 
a good level of development 

FSM status Relative gap 2012-13 20.7 2018-19 21.5 0.8 

16-17 year olds not in education, 
employment of training (NEET) or whose 
activity is not known

Value 2016 7.4 2019 3.5 -3.9 

Wider 
determinants

Gap in the employment rate between those 
with a long term health condition (LTC) and 
the overall employment rate

LTC and overall 
employment

Absolute gap 2013-14 9.8 2019-20 10.4 0.6 

Low birthweight of term babies Value 2011 2.4 2018 1.9 -0.5 
Reception: prevalence of obesity including 
severe obesity 

Value 2015-16 8.7 2019-20 10.3 1.6 

Year 6: prevalence of obesity including severe 
obesity

Value 2015-16 17.7 2019-20 19.3 1.6 

Value 2013 18.1 2019 13.0 -5.1 

Health 
improvement 

Smoking prevalence in adults (18+) – current 
smokers Routine and 

manual 
Odds ratio: 
socioeconomic gap

2013 2.8 2019 3.6 0.8 

P
age 53



16

occupations vs 
other occupations

Admission episodes for alcohol-related 
conditions

Value 2012-13 655.0 2018-18 673.8 18.8 

Self-reported wellbeing – people with a low 
satisfaction score 

Value 2013-14 5.0 2014-15 5.1 0.1 

Health 
protection

TB incidence (three year average) Value 2011-13 5.9 2017-19 3.5 -2.4 

Infant mortality rate Value 2011-13 3.4 2017-19 3.1 -0.3 
% 5 year olds with experience of visually 
obvious dental decay

Value 2011-12 28.0 2018-19 19.5 -8.5 

Under 75 mortality rate from all 
cardiovascular diseases

Value 2011-13 66.9 2017-19 59.8 -7.1 

Under 75 mortality rate from cancer Value 2011-13 130.9 2017-19 118.1 -12.8 

Healthcare 
and 
premature 
mortality

Suicide rate Value 2011-13 12.9 2017-19 10.2 -2.7 

P
age 54



1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health

6 July 2021 – Adult Social Care Update
_________________________________________________  

Enhanced Independence Offer (EIO)
The work to roll out the Enhanced Independence Offer (EIO) is progressing. The 

project is focusing on the home-based and bed-based pathways out of acute and 

community hospitals; and the stepping up of people in need from the community. 

The new improved service will be up and running from the 1st November 2021; and 

in the meantime we are improving the overall capacity of the Home First 

(reablement) service to take on more people, and rationalising the assessment bed 

pathway to ensure we have the right type of bed based service to meet demand. 

Alongside this there will be a review of therapy services to ensure we have enough 

of the right type of therapy for each person. This will be built into the overall 

Enhanced Independence Offer as both pathways rely on an element of rehabilitation 

for support.

Complex Care@Home
The vulnerable people telephone support service initiated as a response to the 

pandemic has been co-produced with primary care and Gloucestershire Health and 

Care services and is now a mainstream offer as part of the Complex Care at home 

model. People are identified through risk stratification of GP practice list according to 

agreed criteria for example level of frailty, co morbidities and age. People receive a 

proactive phone call on behalf of the GP with the offer of a welfare check. This 

includes questions regarding health, well-being, medication, social support, nutrition 

advice and guidance. People are risk scored and offered appropriate support and 

onward referrals based on their responses. The service has received excellent 

feedback from individuals and their carers that have been contacted that would not 

have reached out for support.

Page 55

Agenda Item 5



2

Financial support to social care providers during the pandemic – update 2021

Workforce Capacity Fund
The Workforce Capacity Grant provides for measures to increase workforce 

capacity. GCC received an overall allocation of £1,264,992, which was received in 

two tranches. The funding was allocated to 381 providers. £1,154,992 was allocated 

to care homes and community care providers. £110,000 was allotted to providers 

that didn’t accept or returned the funds and therefore remains unspent. 

Rapid Testing Fund
The Rapid Testing Fund provides funding for Covid testing in care homes. 

Gloucestershire received £1,964,902 for 6,018 Care Home registered Beds and 90 

Residential Drug and Alcohol beds. £1,945,793 was allocated, all of which went to 

care homes. £19,109 was allotted to providers that didn’t accept or returned the 

funds and therefore remains unspent. 

Infection Control and Testing Fund
A new grant was announced in March 2021 which is intended to further extend 

infection control and rapid testing. Whilst it is allocated to GCC as a single fund the 

money is to provide for two separate purposes and therefore grant agreements have 

been put in place with providers accordingly. The terms of the fund are best summed 

up in a table:

Rapid testing fund

Rapid 
testing 
fund
£1,683,574

60% to care home 
providers

40% in LA discretion 
to distribute 
appropriately

Any unclaimed portion 
of 60% to be added to 
40%

52.5% to 
care 
home 
providers

17.5% to 
community 
providers

Infection 
control 
fund
£2,545,336

70%

30% in LA discretion 
to distribute 
appropriately

Any unclaimed portion 
of 70% to be added to 
30%

Page 56



3

Summary:

As at May 2021, the Gloucestershire Care sector has received £23.7m of financial 

support:

10% (GCC and CCG contribution): £6.042m 

Pre April 2020 costs: £0.134m

ICF1: £7.752m

ICF2 (includes money for care home visiting): £6.621m

WCF: £1.265m

RTF: £1.965m

By June of 2021 the Gloucestershire Care sector will have received £27.9m which 

includes the additional:

ICTF – RTF: £1.683m

ICTF – ICF: £2.545m

Health and Housing

Appropriate Housing
Work continues to find the best possible housing choice for people.  In addition to 

providing the key support at the right time to prevent a crisis situation this approach 

can help facilitate hospital discharge and also means people can maintain their 

independence within their communities. We work closely with district council 

colleagues and housing providers to ensure best possible use is made of a range of 

properties.  Supporting better housing options has released quantifiable savings to 

adult social care of over £130k and there is a similar figure attributed to wider system 

savings through cost avoidance and system optimisation.  This has been achieved 

by supporting some of the county’s most vulnerable people into more suitable 

housing that supports their independence and reduces dependence on long term 

residential settings.

Park Homes Project
Initial funding from the Disabled Facilities Grant additional funds in 2018-19 enabled 

a pilot project to insulate some of the park homes people live in at sites around the 

county. Using health data it was shown there is a higher prevalence of long term 

Page 57



4

conditions like respiratory and cardio vascular issues amongst park home residents. 

Data from the pilot showed there are substantial savings to the NHS and wider 

society from the improvements. By demonstrating the excellent joint working by 

councils and use of health data to target households the Strategic Housing 

Partnership was able to apply successfully for two sums of £1m from the 

government’s Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery scheme. The majority will 

enable nearly 200 more park homes to be insulated and funding will also be used to 

provide alternatives to electric heating in areas which do not have gas supply. This 

will help reduce fuel poverty and cold homes in rural areas.    

Learning Disabilities

The Learning Disabilities and Autism Programme in Gloucestershire has achieved 
remarkable progress during 2020/21 whist responding to a major health pandemic.  
Highlights from this include: - 

Transforming Care: 
 Over the last year a number of people with a Learning Disabilities and/or 

Autism have been discharged from Inpatient Units. 
 There has been an overall reduction in the baseline number from 29 to 23 

hospital placements, with 2 further discharges in May 21.
 There have been no admissions into specialist Out-of-County (OOC) 

hospitals since Q3 of 2019/20.
 Community Discharge Grant (£238k/year for 3 years) has acted as an 

enabler to address gaps in funding. 
 We are working with Children’s Services to bid for all-age autism case 

management team.
 A new Positive Behaviour Support service has been established within the 

Council which delivers a more preventative approach for all client groups (not 
just Learning Disabilities). 

Annual Health Checks (AHC):
 Gloucestershire benchmarked one of the highest performances in the South-

West Region achieving an overall position of 74% AHC completed, from a 
target of 67%.

 AHC Local Covid-19 Resources and Practice Pack on G: Care, including flow 
chart for risk stratification.

 Gloucestershire was chosen to develop and pilot the Oliver McGowen 
mandatory training in Learning Disability and Autism 

Page 58



5

(https://www.ghc.nhs.uk/oliver-mcgowan-mandatory-training/), this will include 
professionals in mainstream services.

 Accessible information to help people to understand about the need to have 
an annual health check were launched including; - Get checked, Stay Well 
Videos on You Tube and the Supercharged Me Website was launched in 
September 2019 (https://superchargedme.uk/) .

 The developing a toolkit for Practices and care homes in relation to all 
resources available to support good health outcomes for those with a learning 
disability.

LD Mortality Reviews (Leder):
 The final position at the end of the year was 89% reviews completed, this 

figure increased to 98% by April 21.
 £35k Funding from NHS England, committed towards reviewers and Quality 

Assurance Panel. 
 It is worth noting that a new policy will be introduced this Summer, which will: 

- 
- Bring in a new IT platform for Leder
- Expand Leder to include autism.

COVID and Learning Disabilities:
Although COVID had a significant impact on people with disabilities Gloucestershire 
responded very pro-actively via weekly meetings with chairs of the Partnership 
Boards, issues were escalated via the emergency planning cells leading to quick 
responses and decisions. This kept Gloucestershire one step ahead of the curve in 
the way the pandemic unfolded.  Positive steps included: -

• Produced regular Bulletins to support people with disabilities and their carers 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-
care/disabilities/partnership-boards/

• Worked with Inclusion Gloucestershire to develop a specific accessible COVID 
website for people with disabilities 
https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/covid-19/ 

• Worked with Health Professionals to ensure reasonable adjustments were made 
for people with LD on G-Care https://g-
care.glos.nhs.uk/pathway/590/resource/7#chapter_6535    

• At the end of April 21, over 91% of those over 18 on the LD Register had had 
their 1st vaccine, we are currently following up how many people have had their 
second dose.

Adult Single Programme
The Adult Single Programme is preparing to launch the second year of the Digital 

Innovation Fund (DIF). This grants programme supports voluntary and community 

Page 59

https://www.ghc.nhs.uk/oliver-mcgowan-mandatory-training/
https://superchargedme.uk/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/disabilities/partnership-boards/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/disabilities/partnership-boards/
https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/covid-19/
https://g-care.glos.nhs.uk/pathway/590/resource/7#chapter_6535
https://g-care.glos.nhs.uk/pathway/590/resource/7#chapter_6535


6

sector organisations that use technology to support people to remain independent. 

During the first year, despite the challenges posed by the pandemic, the £200k Fund 

supported 21 projects across the county to help people connect with their 

communities, learn digital skills, borrow and try new technologies, support 

accessibility and improve health and wellbeing. Feedback from one person who 

attended a DIF project run by Cinderford Artspace said “‘I think you’ve done an 

amazing job, just with regard to the technology – I now have learned how to create a 

Zoom meeting myself.   It’s complicated, but somehow Artspace has been able to do 

it, I really take my hat off to you – we all get this chance to communicate, thank you.’

Liquidlogic Adults System Implementation 
The new case management system, Liquidlogic Adults System (LAS) successfully 

went live 29th March 2021. All staff completed their training online, with ongoing 

support provided first by the project team and LiquidLogic and now by experts in 

each locality team. The project now moves on to Phase 2 which includes integrating 

this system with its sister product for children and implementing a mobile app. This 

will allow social care staff to securely access the system while on the road, reducing 

the need for extra journeys to the office.

GHC Contract Update
Collaborative working by both the Integrated Commissioning team and GHCNHSFT 

is currently in progress to agree the quality schedule for the 2021/22 NHS contract, 

underpinned by the three pillars of quality and reflecting the priorities outlined in the 

new Trust Quality Strategy. 

Collaborative working is also underway to review the provision of care for patients 

with complex leg wounds. Plans to review current service pathways in both the acute 

and community Trusts are underway with the aim of ensuring that patients 

throughout the county receive a service that is consistent, evidence based, equitable 

and of high quality.

The development of a robust service specification for delivery of oral health / mouth 

care training and support into independent sector providers (initially care homes) 

continues and a draft specification has been prepared.   A multi-partner meeting is 

Page 60



7

due to take place over the next couple of weeks with partners from Public Health, 

Integrated Commissioning, GHC and Community Dentistry Service – this group will 

review and consider the scope of the draft specification in line with national mouth 

care agenda and the delivery mechanism to ensure robust training and support for 

care home partners.   It is anticipated the specification will be complete in line with 

GHC contract signing later in the year.

Enhanced Health in Care Homes & Care Sector Support
The Enhanced Health in Care Homes (EHCH) programme work continues with 

members of the Integrated Commissioning team regularly attending the South West 

leads meeting.  The team have recently been successful in securing funding to 

develop an MDT web based learning package for care home provider staff and are 

working with Gloucestershire Care Providers Association to ensure a comprehensive 

and well scoped package is developed for use within the county.  The team will 

continue to support the implementation of the framework over the coming year and 

support the objectives identified within the model which reflect the wider Ageing Well 

and quality agenda in Gloucestershire.  

The Care Home Support Team is transferring into Integrated Commissioning on 1 

July 2021 to support the Care Sector Support agenda alongside Proud to Care.

Review of the Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP) Care Home Estate
As part of our duty under the Care Act 2014, the Integrated Commissioning Team 

continues to work with the independent care market to ensure we are promoting 

individual’s wellbeing, commissioning quality care provision and developing 

sustainable models of care to meet the needs of our diverse population. As part of 

the Market Management section of Integrated Brokerage we are currently 

undertaking two major pieces of work to support the sector post, (or possibly mid), 

pandemic. The outline below relates to the reframing of the residential sector of the 

market developments, further detail will be provided in the scrutiny item during the 

7th September meeting.

The wider impact of an international pandemic has provided additional stresses on 

the care market, many of our independent care homes have had significant loses 

Page 61



8

and most are declaring that self-funding requests have reduced to the point where 

they are reviewing the viability of their business. The business model for residential 

care relies on a good balance between publicly funded and self-funded placements; 

the loss of self-funders brings a significant risk to the market and the overall 

sustainability of all care homes. Decommissioning homes where we have influence 

allows us to manage the market rather than responding to provider failure.

We expect the number of older people aged 65 and over in Gloucestershire to 

continue to rise at a faster pace than nationally, rising from 126,800 in 2015 to 

206,300 by 2039. An estimated 25,400 older people have a long-term illness or 

disability that limits their day-to-day activities. Analysis of the wider market has 

evidenced a lack of facilitates to meet the needs of individuals with Neurological 

conditions and acquired brain injuries within the county. There is little choice for 

these individuals when procuring suitable placements. Feasibility studies and options 

appraisals are being undertaken, to look at identifying a suitable site which could be 

used or redeveloped to provide a purpose-built Neurological Care facility.  

In preparation for the re-tender of the Residential contract in 2019/20 it was 

recognised that decommissioning and redeveloping of the GCP estate, (The Order of 

St John’s contract), would assist us in managing our responsibility under the Care 

Act 2014, as well as being crucial in aiding the sustainability of the wider 

independent care market in Gloucestershire. As a result, Cabinet took the decision to 

close four homes across the county.  The 2020 global pandemic has seen many of 

our residents choosing not to go into residential care, many are choosing to 

purchase retirement apartments rather than care home placements. We have 

therefore taken the decision to review the Gloucestershire Care Partnership estate.  

This will involve consideration of decommissioning, repurposing and re-developing 

sites with the aim of matching provision with our identified demographic needs. 

Proud to Care 
The Proud to Care team have been working hard on developing, and re-developing 

in some cases, relationships with care providers which is resulting in a promising 

shift upwards in provider enrolment to the Applicant Tracking System to showcase 

their current vacancies.  Work behind the scenes with the company who provide the 

Page 62



9

Applicant Tracking System will also see improvements in the process.   We are also 

working closely with the Job Centre and colleges to improve the quality of 

information delivered to young adults with the aim of raising better awareness of 

careers in care and making care an attractive career prospect.    Face to face 

training remains difficult as Covid-19 lockdown eases, we are in discussions with 

training providers to discuss a blended option for September 2021 and which 

elements will remain as a virtual option.  

Red Bags
The Proud to Care Team coordinated delivery of 600 Red Bags to Older People and 

Learning Disability homes in June 2021. The poster below details the Red Bag 

purpose and process. Red bags were allocated on a ratio 1:10 beds and supplied for 

free, with expectation that homes take ownership and fund additional/replacement 

bags. All supporting documents will be placed on the Proud to Care website.  

Feedback has been positive with both hospital and homes saying they are being 

successfully utilised. Communication and engagement is continuing across the ICS 

to promote and ask for feedback.

Page 63



10

Page 64



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny
Committee

Quarter 4 Reporting 2020/21

The following scorecards are enclosed:

This report has been prepared by the Performance & Improvement Team using data up to 31/3/2021

Page No.
Key to Symbols 2
Adult Social Care Performance 3
Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities 5
Public Protection, Parking & Libraries 7
Strategic Risk Register Summary 9

1

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 7

javascript:app.OpenBookmark(1,2243,true,null,null,false,'','');


Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4)

4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3)

3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2)

2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1)

1 2 3 4 5

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Performance better than target

Performance worse than target

Performance significantly worse than target

No information

Missing target

No value

Value Increasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Decreasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Increasing (Bigger is Better)

Value Decreasing (Bigger is Better)

No change

Bigger is better A bigger value for this measure is good

Smaller is
better

A smaller value for this measure is good

Plan is best Where it is best for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Key to Symbols

Key to Symbols  Risk

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with

the Likelihood of each risk)

The Gloucestershire Risk Matrix

2

P
age 66



Adult Social Care Performance

Cllr Kathy Williams    /   Cllr Carole AllawayMartin

Employment & Settled Accommodation

% of Adults receiving secondary Mental
Health services in settled
accommodation

Bigger is Better Quarterly 87.0% 87.0% 88.0% 89.0% 80.0% 55.2%

% of Adults with Learning Disabilities in
settled accommodation

Bigger is Better Monthly 79.3% 79.4% 79.2% 79.1% 75.0% 73.1%

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21 Target Mar

21 Comments Mar21 Comparator
Group

Reablement & Preventative

% of clients with more than 1 episode of reablement
in the last 12 months

Smaller is Better
Latest
Quarter

32.8% 24.1% 32.2% 35.8% 27.7% Covers the period 1 January to 18 March 2021 n/a

% of clients who need no long term care after their
period of reablement

Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

89.4% 90.1% 91.1% 85.1% 85.6% Covers the period 1 January to 18 March 2021 n/a

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21 Comments Mar21 Comparator

Group

Admissions & Transfers

Permanent admissions 1864 to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 9.2 6.7 8.9 10.8 9.7 12.0 13.8

Permanent admissions aged 65+ to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 471.2 461.1 439.2 472.7 433.4 472.0 579.2

Delayed transfers of care from hospital
due to Adult Social Care per 100,000
population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 5.04 3.70 3.50
DTOC measures were suspended on 1st March. There is no data available
at present.

3.50

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21 Target Mar

21 Comments Mar21 Comparator
Group

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec19 Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Target Dec

20 Comments Dec20 Comparator
Group

Long Term Care

% of Service Users who have had a review/ re
assessment of their needs within the last 12 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 36.4% 33.1% 48.0% 52.0% 53.0% 50.0% As at 18 March 2021 n/a

Average number of weeks an individual waits for a
Carers Assessment

Smaller is Better Snapshot 2.6 3.1 2.8 2.2 1.6 6.0 n/a

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21 Target Mar

21 Comments Mar21 Comparator
Group

Adult Safeguarding

% of Section 42 enquiries this quarter where the risk was
reduced or removed

Bigger is
Better

Latest Quarter 90.4% 90.1% 88.0% 87.3% 93.1% 85.0% Covers the period 1 January to 18 March 2021 84.5%

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21 Target Qtr

Mar21 Comments Qtr Mar21 Comparator
Group

Learning Disabilities

% of Adults with Learning Disabilities in Employment
Bigger is
Better

Annual 6.8% 6.4% 3.1% 0.8% 4.3%

Annual  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Mar20 Qtr Mar21 Comments Mar21 Comparator

Group

Adult Social Care: ASCOF

Social care reported quality of life
Bigger is
Better

Annual 19.7 19.1 19.6 19.6 19.1

Carer reported Quality of Life
Bigger is
Better

Annual 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Year in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Mar20 Comments Mar20 Comparator

Group

3

P
age 67

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col19')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col19')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col20')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col22')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col23')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col24')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col25')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col26')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col29')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col12')


Adult Social Care Performance

Cllr Kathy Williams    /   Cllr Carole AllawayMartin

Employment & Settled Accommodation

% of Adults receiving secondary Mental
Health services in settled
accommodation

Bigger is Better Quarterly 87.0% 87.0% 88.0% 89.0% 80.0% 55.2%

% of Adults with Learning Disabilities in
settled accommodation

Bigger is Better Monthly 79.3% 79.4% 79.2% 79.1% 75.0% 73.1%

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21 Target Mar

21 Comments Mar21 Comparator
Group

Reablement & Preventative

% of clients with more than 1 episode of reablement
in the last 12 months

Smaller is Better
Latest
Quarter

32.8% 24.1% 32.2% 35.8% 27.7% Covers the period 1 January to 18 March 2021 n/a

% of clients who need no long term care after their
period of reablement

Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

89.4% 90.1% 91.1% 85.1% 85.6% Covers the period 1 January to 18 March 2021 n/a

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21 Comments Mar21 Comparator

Group

Admissions & Transfers

Permanent admissions 1864 to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 9.2 6.7 8.9 10.8 9.7 12.0 13.8

Permanent admissions aged 65+ to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 471.2 461.1 439.2 472.7 433.4 472.0 579.2

Delayed transfers of care from hospital
due to Adult Social Care per 100,000
population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 5.04 3.70 3.50
DTOC measures were suspended on 1st March. There is no data available
at present.

3.50

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21 Target Mar

21 Comments Mar21 Comparator
Group

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec19 Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Target Dec

20 Comments Dec20 Comparator
Group

Long Term Care

% of Service Users who have had a review/ re
assessment of their needs within the last 12 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 36.4% 33.1% 48.0% 52.0% 53.0% 50.0% As at 18 March 2021 n/a

Average number of weeks an individual waits for a
Carers Assessment

Smaller is Better Snapshot 2.6 3.1 2.8 2.2 1.6 6.0 n/a

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21 Target Mar

21 Comments Mar21 Comparator
Group

Adult Safeguarding

% of Section 42 enquiries this quarter where the risk was
reduced or removed

Bigger is
Better

Latest Quarter 90.4% 90.1% 88.0% 87.3% 93.1% 85.0% Covers the period 1 January to 18 March 2021 84.5%

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21 Target Qtr

Mar21 Comments Qtr Mar21 Comparator
Group

Learning Disabilities

% of Adults with Learning Disabilities in Employment
Bigger is
Better

Annual 6.8% 6.4% 3.1% 0.8% 4.3%

Annual  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Mar20 Qtr Mar21 Comments Mar21 Comparator

Group

Adult Social Care: ASCOF

Social care reported quality of life
Bigger is
Better

Annual 19.7 19.1 19.6 19.6 19.1

Carer reported Quality of Life
Bigger is
Better

Annual 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Year in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Mar20 Comments Mar20 Comparator

Group

4

P
age 68

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col14')


Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities
Cllr Tim Harman

% of pregnant smokers
achieving a 4 week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest quarter 90.0% 94.0% 88.0% 83.0% 80.0% 70.0% n/a

Proportion of adult
alcohol misusers who
successfully completed
treatment and did not
represent within 6 months
of completion

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 39.9% 38.8% 37.4% 36.8% 31.2% 35.0%

Performance for this indicator has declined across the Covid
period (Mar 20 to date) with Gloucestershire outcomes below
both  the statistical comparator average (33.5%) and the
contract target of 35%. Outcomes have been impacted by
Covid on a national scale but work is underway with our
providers to understand reasons for the steeper decline seen
during Q3 (when we moved back in to lockdown restrictions)
and to implement relevant service improvements.

33.5%

Proportion of all Opiate
Users in treatment, who
successfully completed
treatment and did not
represent within 6 months
of completion

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot
Latest
Quarter

7.4% 6.2% 5.9% 5.4% 4.6% 6.3%

Performance for this indicator has declined across the Covid
period (Mar 20 to date) with outcomes being impacted by
Covid on a national scale. Local outcomes remained below
the contracted target of  6.3% in Q3 but Gloucestershire
outcomes were in alignment with the  statistical comparator
average (4.6%). Work is underway with our providers to
implement service improvement measures to support recovery
as we come out of national lockdown.

4.6%

Proportion of all Non
Opiate Users in
treatment, not
representing 6 months
after completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

35.1% 32.5% 32.2% 29.8% 25.7% 32.2%

Performance for this indicator has declined across the Covid
period (Mar 20 to date) with Gloucestershire outcomes in Dec
20 below both the statistical comparator average (29.7%) and
the contract target of 32.2%. Outcomes have been impacted
by Covid on a national scale but work is underway with our
providers to understand reasons for the steeper decline seen
during Q3 (when we moved back into lockdown restrictions)
and to implement relevant service improvements.

29.7%

% Reception Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 22.2% 24.3% 23.8% 22.0% 23.8%

This latest data is for academic year 2019/20. The NCMP
programme was paused in response to Covid19 and the
subsequent published data (released during Q3 20/21) has
been deemed sufficient for publication but unreliable for
benchmarking purposes. It is anticipated that the
measurement programme will not be reinstated until early
2021.

% Year 6 Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 32.1% 31.1% 32.1% 31.9% 32.3%

Data shown here is for the academic year 2019/20.
Gloucestershire is in the upper middle quartile of the
comparator group.NCMP data for this indicator was deemed
reliable at publication and the comparison measure is made
against only those comparators with reliable data (n=11)

32.1%

Suicide rate per 100,000
Population

Smaller is
Better

3 Year
Average

10.6 10.8 9.8 10.4 10.2 10.1

The figure reported covers the three year period (20172019).
The Gloucestershire rate is in line with the national average;
and has remained relatively steady since the 201315
reporting period. The Gloucestershire  suicide prevention
strategy is due to be refreshed in 20/21 and will be informed
by the findings of the suicide audit (covering deaths from
suicide between 2016 and 2018).

10.9

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec19 Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20
Target Qtr
Dec20

Comments Qtr Dec20 Comparator

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep16 Qtr Sep17 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Sep20 Comments Qtr Sep20 Comparator

Three Year Average Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec15
(1315)

Qtr Dec16
(1416)

Qtr Dec17
(1517)

Qtr Dec18
(1618)

Qtr Dec19
(1719)

Target Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19 Comparator

5

P
age 69

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col16')


Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities
Cllr Tim Harman

% of pregnant smokers
achieving a 4 week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest quarter 90.0% 94.0% 88.0% 83.0% 80.0% 70.0% n/a

Proportion of adult
alcohol misusers who
successfully completed
treatment and did not
represent within 6 months
of completion

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot 39.9% 38.8% 37.4% 36.8% 31.2% 35.0%

Performance for this indicator has declined across the Covid
period (Mar 20 to date) with Gloucestershire outcomes below
both  the statistical comparator average (33.5%) and the
contract target of 35%. Outcomes have been impacted by
Covid on a national scale but work is underway with our
providers to understand reasons for the steeper decline seen
during Q3 (when we moved back in to lockdown restrictions)
and to implement relevant service improvements.

33.5%

Proportion of all Opiate
Users in treatment, who
successfully completed
treatment and did not
represent within 6 months
of completion

Bigger is
Better

Snapshot
Latest
Quarter

7.4% 6.2% 5.9% 5.4% 4.6% 6.3%

Performance for this indicator has declined across the Covid
period (Mar 20 to date) with outcomes being impacted by
Covid on a national scale. Local outcomes remained below
the contracted target of  6.3% in Q3 but Gloucestershire
outcomes were in alignment with the  statistical comparator
average (4.6%). Work is underway with our providers to
implement service improvement measures to support recovery
as we come out of national lockdown.

4.6%

Proportion of all Non
Opiate Users in
treatment, not
representing 6 months
after completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

35.1% 32.5% 32.2% 29.8% 25.7% 32.2%

Performance for this indicator has declined across the Covid
period (Mar 20 to date) with Gloucestershire outcomes in Dec
20 below both the statistical comparator average (29.7%) and
the contract target of 32.2%. Outcomes have been impacted
by Covid on a national scale but work is underway with our
providers to understand reasons for the steeper decline seen
during Q3 (when we moved back into lockdown restrictions)
and to implement relevant service improvements.

29.7%

% Reception Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 22.2% 24.3% 23.8% 22.0% 23.8%

This latest data is for academic year 2019/20. The NCMP
programme was paused in response to Covid19 and the
subsequent published data (released during Q3 20/21) has
been deemed sufficient for publication but unreliable for
benchmarking purposes. It is anticipated that the
measurement programme will not be reinstated until early
2021.

% Year 6 Children
overweight including
obesity

Smaller is
Better

Annual 32.1% 31.1% 32.1% 31.9% 32.3%

Data shown here is for the academic year 2019/20.
Gloucestershire is in the upper middle quartile of the
comparator group.NCMP data for this indicator was deemed
reliable at publication and the comparison measure is made
against only those comparators with reliable data (n=11)

32.1%

Suicide rate per 100,000
Population

Smaller is
Better

3 Year
Average

10.6 10.8 9.8 10.4 10.2 10.1

The figure reported covers the three year period (20172019).
The Gloucestershire rate is in line with the national average;
and has remained relatively steady since the 201315
reporting period. The Gloucestershire  suicide prevention
strategy is due to be refreshed in 20/21 and will be informed
by the findings of the suicide audit (covering deaths from
suicide between 2016 and 2018).

10.9

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec19 Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20
Target Qtr
Dec20

Comments Qtr Dec20 Comparator

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep16 Qtr Sep17 Qtr Sep18 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Sep20 Comments Qtr Sep20 Comparator

Three Year Average Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec15
(1315)

Qtr Dec16
(1416)

Qtr Dec17
(1517)

Qtr Dec18
(1618)

Qtr Dec19
(1719)

Target Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19 Comparator

6

P
age 70

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col15')


Public Protection, Parking & Libraries
Cllr Dave Norman

Fire & Rescue

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

1,089 174 523 579 590 1,500

This figure continues to be affected by the changed work processes due to
COVID 19.  GFRS have followed NFCC Strategic Intentions to limit face to
face activity to those people who have been identified as at very high risk of
fire, or referrals from partner agencies for their high risk residents. The
change to working practices has limited the number of Safe and Well visits
being carried out by Wholetime Watches over the period although the
changes to the Roadmap will now allow activity to increase.

% of Safe and Well visits
undertaken to those in high
risk groups

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

83.0% 81.6% 86.0% 86.4% 85.3% 75.0%

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken per 1,000
population (HFSC)

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

1.72 0.27 0.82 0.91 0.93 2.35

This figure continues to be affected by the changed work processes due to
COVID 19.  GFRS have followed NFCC Strategic Intentions to limit face to
face activity to those people who have been identified as at very high risk of
fire, or referrals from partner agencies for their high risk residents. The
change to working practices has limited the number of Safe and Well visits
being carried out by Wholetime Watches over the period although the
changes to the Roadmap will now allow activity to increase.

Number of Accidental
Dwelling Fires

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

66 53 63 62 68 68

Average Response times to
dwelling fires

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

9.32 8.47 10.27 9.10 9.00

Of the 46 dwelling fire incidents that we were called to in Q4, a third of
them had an estimated attendance time of over 10 minutes, meaning we
would never have achieved the 9 minute average response time from
station for at least a third of the incidents.

If we removed these incidents, we would have an approx, average response
time of 7 minutes. Further to this if incidents 9713, 8386, 10086 had
achieved their recommended attendance time, the actual average response
time would have been 08:46.

Incidents 9713   07:45 longer than recommended  attendance time

Incident 8386     04:19 longer than recommended attendance time

Incident 10086 05:25 longer than recommended attendance time

In 2019/20, the England average control time from call to mobilising for
dwelling fires was 01:12. During Q4, 39% of the call times were above this
average, although the overall average call time to mobilising was 01:06.

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21
Target Qtr
Mar21

Comments Qtr Mar21

Road Safety

Number of killed and
seriously injured people

Smaller is
Better

Calendar
Year to Date

316 85 133 216 277 305

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target

Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

October
December
2019

January
March 2020

AprilJune
2020

July
September
2020

October
December
2020

Forecast
October
December
2020

Comments OctoberDecember 2020

Libraries

Number of lighttouch
business interactions
supported by the Growth
Hubs

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 161 0 5 1 4

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21 Comments Qtr Mar21

7

P
age 71

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Public Protection, Parking & Libraries
Cllr Dave Norman

Fire & Rescue

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

1,089 174 523 579 590 1,500

This figure continues to be affected by the changed work processes due to
COVID 19.  GFRS have followed NFCC Strategic Intentions to limit face to
face activity to those people who have been identified as at very high risk of
fire, or referrals from partner agencies for their high risk residents. The
change to working practices has limited the number of Safe and Well visits
being carried out by Wholetime Watches over the period although the
changes to the Roadmap will now allow activity to increase.

% of Safe and Well visits
undertaken to those in high
risk groups

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

83.0% 81.6% 86.0% 86.4% 85.3% 75.0%

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken per 1,000
population (HFSC)

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

1.72 0.27 0.82 0.91 0.93 2.35

This figure continues to be affected by the changed work processes due to
COVID 19.  GFRS have followed NFCC Strategic Intentions to limit face to
face activity to those people who have been identified as at very high risk of
fire, or referrals from partner agencies for their high risk residents. The
change to working practices has limited the number of Safe and Well visits
being carried out by Wholetime Watches over the period although the
changes to the Roadmap will now allow activity to increase.

Number of Accidental
Dwelling Fires

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

66 53 63 62 68 68

Average Response times to
dwelling fires

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

9.32 8.47 10.27 9.10 9.00

Of the 46 dwelling fire incidents that we were called to in Q4, a third of
them had an estimated attendance time of over 10 minutes, meaning we
would never have achieved the 9 minute average response time from
station for at least a third of the incidents.

If we removed these incidents, we would have an approx, average response
time of 7 minutes. Further to this if incidents 9713, 8386, 10086 had
achieved their recommended attendance time, the actual average response
time would have been 08:46.

Incidents 9713   07:45 longer than recommended  attendance time

Incident 8386     04:19 longer than recommended attendance time

Incident 10086 05:25 longer than recommended attendance time

In 2019/20, the England average control time from call to mobilising for
dwelling fires was 01:12. During Q4, 39% of the call times were above this
average, although the overall average call time to mobilising was 01:06.

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21
Target Qtr
Mar21

Comments Qtr Mar21

Road Safety

Number of killed and
seriously injured people

Smaller is
Better

Calendar
Year to Date

316 85 133 216 277 305

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target

Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

October
December
2019

January
March 2020

AprilJune
2020

July
September
2020

October
December
2020

Forecast
October
December
2020

Comments OctoberDecember 2020

Libraries

Number of lighttouch
business interactions
supported by the Growth
Hubs

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 161 0 5 1 4

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar20 Qtr Jun20 Qtr Sep20 Qtr Dec20 Qtr Mar21 Comments Qtr Mar21

8

P
age 72

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col9')


Strategic Risk Summary

SR5.3
Provider failures result in the council being unable to achieve its
strategic objectives Scott, Sarah High 25 High 15 High 20 High 20

Following a year of extreme pressure on the
Independent Health & Social Care Sector we are
starting to see some signs of stress. There has been
a sharp fall in the number of self funders entering
care homes which has resulted in more requests from
independent providers for publically funded
placements. We have also seen increased requests
for work from Domiciliary Care providers in the
urban areas of the county, we have been working
with some of these to convince them to expand their
business to cover the rural areas where possible,
again some of these requests for work are as a result
of individuals choosing not to purchase support
services privately.
In order to minimise the impact on the market we are
undertaking key pieces of work mapping the current
shape of our care market, by district and aligning this
with demographic information, and will use this and
any influence we have by way of resources, physical,
financial and intellectual to actively shape the
commissioned market.

SR7.1
Failure to protect vulnerable adults in Gloucestershire from
abuse neglect in situations that potentially could have been
predicted and prevented.

Scott, Sarah High 20 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board (GSAB)
has arranged a series of virtual road shows taking
place in April to promote awareness and
understanding of safeguarding issues with the
community and voluntary sector.

Two of the Safeguarding Adults reviews on people
with complex needs are nearing completion and the
learning from these reviews will be shared with the
workforce development sub group to ensure the
learning is disseminated via the safeguarding adults
training programme.

The Board and the Safeguarding Adults team are
engaged in the complex needs agenda more widely
and are promoting GSAB high risk behaviours policy
to multi agency partners.

SR7.6

Unable to support all those who can, to live independently at
home, because demand for home care services outstrips
available capacity. Resulting in the reliance on temporary
respite/alternative bed based care in lieu of home care

Scott, Sarah High 20 High 15 High 15 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12

We are actively mapping and analysing the market
with the view of ensuring any provider failure is
manageable and could be absorbed by other
providers in the market.

Where possible we try to ensure that we are not
reliant on any one provider so the risk is balanced
and manageable. Hospital discharges are the most
likely route for using respite in lieu beds therefore the
discharge pathway is being managed by GHC in
collaboration with one named provider as part of the
development of our Home First model.

SR7.8

Risk of legal action being taken against the Local Authority due
to failure to complete a Deprivation of Liberty assessment
within the stated time lines. Since a significant and sudden
change in the law due to a Supreme Court Judgement in March
2014 there is an excessively high demand for best interest
assessments to be carried out for Deprivation of Liberty (DoLS)
authorisations.

Scott, Sarah High 20 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9

Triaging of all applications continues in line with
ADASS guidance. The service has considered a
recent Ombudsman decision for another local
authority and put risk mitigations in place in light of
that decision. backlog remains stable and with the
two new practitioners now in post it is anticipated that
this backlog will begin to be reduced.

SR10.1

Failure of the Council or a key partner to effectively respond to
a major incident such as flooding that results in community
disruption and failure to return to normal, within required
timescales.

Bowcock,
Wayne

High 20 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 High 15 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Capacity remains affected due to continuing COVID
19 responses

SR10.4

Due to insufficient business continuity management
arrangements failure of the Council or a key partner to
effectively deliver their statutory services, resulting in
community disruption and failure of corporate objectives.

Bowcock,
Wayne High 16 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12

An update on the agreed business continuity
management (BCM) programme which runs through
to summer 2022 was provided to the GCC Corporate
Leadership Team (CLT) on 18/03/2021.  CLT noted
that the BCM work is progressing and that, overall,
the project is considered to be on track.  CLT were,
for the first time, provided with accurate
management information (MI) outlining the status of
business continuity plans (BCPs) for each Directorate
and for the council as a whole.  These figures indicate
that, although 80% of services across GCC, incl.
GFRS, have a business continuity plan in place, half
of the plans require review (i.e. they have not been
reevaluated / updated in the last six months and so
do not at present fully comply with the agreed
Business Continuity Policy).  Some 12% of services
have not been able to evidence a BCP and are
therefore considered as not having a BCP in place;
information is still awaited from some 8% of
services.  These figures support the current risk
assessment (the 'proposed risk rating for this
quarter').

In line with best practice, robust and accurate
business impact analyses (BIAs) need to be
conducted before BCPs are developed / updated.
BIAs are now being rolled out, with the work
targeting those services with missing BCPs in addition
to priority services identified by members of the BCM
Assurance Board.

As the project progresses, more BIAs and BCPs will
be updated across the organisation and processes will
be implemented to ensure that plans are rehearsed
and tested, resulting in greater confidence in the
robustness of each service's BCM arrangements and
a consequent overall reduction in risk impact.
However, business continuity management is not a
"preventative" discipline and does not aim to reduce
the likelihood of disruption.  It should also be noted
that CLT has agreed, per the corporate Business
Continuity Policy, that it is neither desirable nor
practicable to entirely eliminate low frequency but
high impact disruption risks at source (the
appropriate response to such risks being for GCC to
plan to react effectively should the risks be realised 
preparing to minimise the impact of the incident and
to promptly recover the affected activities, i.e.
business continuity planning).

Work continues to progress with the GCC Strategic
Procurement Service to ensure that a significant BCM
risk  arising from a reliance on third parties,
suppliers and delivery partners  is adequately
addressed throughout the procurement lifecycle.

Strategic Risk 5: Organisational Change Programmes (New Qtr 3 19/20)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Sep20
Residual Risk
Qtr Dec20

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar21

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Mar20
Residual Risk
Qtr Jun20

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep20

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec20

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar21

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults (New Quarter 1 2018/19)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Mar20
Residual Risk
Qtr Jun20

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep20

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec20

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar21

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults (New Quarter 3 2019/20)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Sep20
Residual Risk
Qtr Dec20

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar21

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Mar20
Residual Risk
Qtr Jun20

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep20

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec20

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar21

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats (New Qtr 3 19/20)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Sep20
Residual Risk
Qtr Dec20

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar21

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

9

P
age 73

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col11')


Strategic Risk Summary

SR5.3
Provider failures result in the council being unable to achieve its
strategic objectives Scott, Sarah High 25 High 15 High 20 High 20

Following a year of extreme pressure on the
Independent Health & Social Care Sector we are
starting to see some signs of stress. There has been
a sharp fall in the number of self funders entering
care homes which has resulted in more requests from
independent providers for publically funded
placements. We have also seen increased requests
for work from Domiciliary Care providers in the
urban areas of the county, we have been working
with some of these to convince them to expand their
business to cover the rural areas where possible,
again some of these requests for work are as a result
of individuals choosing not to purchase support
services privately.
In order to minimise the impact on the market we are
undertaking key pieces of work mapping the current
shape of our care market, by district and aligning this
with demographic information, and will use this and
any influence we have by way of resources, physical,
financial and intellectual to actively shape the
commissioned market.

SR7.1
Failure to protect vulnerable adults in Gloucestershire from
abuse neglect in situations that potentially could have been
predicted and prevented.

Scott, Sarah High 20 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board (GSAB)
has arranged a series of virtual road shows taking
place in April to promote awareness and
understanding of safeguarding issues with the
community and voluntary sector.

Two of the Safeguarding Adults reviews on people
with complex needs are nearing completion and the
learning from these reviews will be shared with the
workforce development sub group to ensure the
learning is disseminated via the safeguarding adults
training programme.

The Board and the Safeguarding Adults team are
engaged in the complex needs agenda more widely
and are promoting GSAB high risk behaviours policy
to multi agency partners.

SR7.6

Unable to support all those who can, to live independently at
home, because demand for home care services outstrips
available capacity. Resulting in the reliance on temporary
respite/alternative bed based care in lieu of home care

Scott, Sarah High 20 High 15 High 15 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12

We are actively mapping and analysing the market
with the view of ensuring any provider failure is
manageable and could be absorbed by other
providers in the market.

Where possible we try to ensure that we are not
reliant on any one provider so the risk is balanced
and manageable. Hospital discharges are the most
likely route for using respite in lieu beds therefore the
discharge pathway is being managed by GHC in
collaboration with one named provider as part of the
development of our Home First model.

SR7.8

Risk of legal action being taken against the Local Authority due
to failure to complete a Deprivation of Liberty assessment
within the stated time lines. Since a significant and sudden
change in the law due to a Supreme Court Judgement in March
2014 there is an excessively high demand for best interest
assessments to be carried out for Deprivation of Liberty (DoLS)
authorisations.

Scott, Sarah High 20 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9

Triaging of all applications continues in line with
ADASS guidance. The service has considered a
recent Ombudsman decision for another local
authority and put risk mitigations in place in light of
that decision. backlog remains stable and with the
two new practitioners now in post it is anticipated that
this backlog will begin to be reduced.

SR10.1

Failure of the Council or a key partner to effectively respond to
a major incident such as flooding that results in community
disruption and failure to return to normal, within required
timescales.

Bowcock,
Wayne

High 20 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 High 15 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Capacity remains affected due to continuing COVID
19 responses

SR10.4

Due to insufficient business continuity management
arrangements failure of the Council or a key partner to
effectively deliver their statutory services, resulting in
community disruption and failure of corporate objectives.

Bowcock,
Wayne High 16 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12

An update on the agreed business continuity
management (BCM) programme which runs through
to summer 2022 was provided to the GCC Corporate
Leadership Team (CLT) on 18/03/2021.  CLT noted
that the BCM work is progressing and that, overall,
the project is considered to be on track.  CLT were,
for the first time, provided with accurate
management information (MI) outlining the status of
business continuity plans (BCPs) for each Directorate
and for the council as a whole.  These figures indicate
that, although 80% of services across GCC, incl.
GFRS, have a business continuity plan in place, half
of the plans require review (i.e. they have not been
reevaluated / updated in the last six months and so
do not at present fully comply with the agreed
Business Continuity Policy).  Some 12% of services
have not been able to evidence a BCP and are
therefore considered as not having a BCP in place;
information is still awaited from some 8% of
services.  These figures support the current risk
assessment (the 'proposed risk rating for this
quarter').

In line with best practice, robust and accurate
business impact analyses (BIAs) need to be
conducted before BCPs are developed / updated.
BIAs are now being rolled out, with the work
targeting those services with missing BCPs in addition
to priority services identified by members of the BCM
Assurance Board.

As the project progresses, more BIAs and BCPs will
be updated across the organisation and processes will
be implemented to ensure that plans are rehearsed
and tested, resulting in greater confidence in the
robustness of each service's BCM arrangements and
a consequent overall reduction in risk impact.
However, business continuity management is not a
"preventative" discipline and does not aim to reduce
the likelihood of disruption.  It should also be noted
that CLT has agreed, per the corporate Business
Continuity Policy, that it is neither desirable nor
practicable to entirely eliminate low frequency but
high impact disruption risks at source (the
appropriate response to such risks being for GCC to
plan to react effectively should the risks be realised 
preparing to minimise the impact of the incident and
to promptly recover the affected activities, i.e.
business continuity planning).

Work continues to progress with the GCC Strategic
Procurement Service to ensure that a significant BCM
risk  arising from a reliance on third parties,
suppliers and delivery partners  is adequately
addressed throughout the procurement lifecycle.

Strategic Risk 5: Organisational Change Programmes (New Qtr 3 19/20)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Sep20
Residual Risk
Qtr Dec20

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar21

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Mar20
Residual Risk
Qtr Jun20

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep20

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec20

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar21

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults (New Quarter 1 2018/19)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Mar20
Residual Risk
Qtr Jun20

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep20

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec20

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar21

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults (New Quarter 3 2019/20)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Sep20
Residual Risk
Qtr Dec20

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar21

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Mar20
Residual Risk
Qtr Jun20

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep20

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec20

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar21

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats (New Qtr 3 19/20)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Sep20
Residual Risk
Qtr Dec20

Residual Risk
Qtr Mar21

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

10

P
age 74

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col11')

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	4 Response to COVID-19 (Adult Social Care and Public Health)
	Minutes , 09/03/2021 Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

	4 Public Health Report
	5 Adult Social Care Report
	7 Quarter 4 Performance Report (2020/21)

